

Geological Survey of Finland

Bulletin 347

Palaeomagnetism of the Early Proterozoic layered intrusions, northern Finland

by S. Mertanen, L. J. Pesonen, H. Huhma and M. A. H. Leino

Geologian tutkimuskeskus Espoo 1989

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 347

PALAEOMAGNETISM OF THE EARLY PROTEROZOIC LAYERED INTRUSIONS, NORTHERN FINLAND

by

S. MERTANEN, L. J. PESONEN, H. HUHMA AND M. A. H. LEINO

with 23 figures, 3 tables and one appendix

GEOLOGIAN TUTKIMUSKESKUS ESPOO 1989

Vammala 1989. Vammalan Kirjapaino Oy

Mertanen, S., Pesonen, L.J., Huhma, H. & Leino, M.A.H. 1989. Palaeomagnetism of the Early Protezoic layered intrusions, northern Finland. *Geological Survey of Finland 347*. 40 pages, 23 figures, 3 tables and one appendix.

The palaeomagnetism of six Early Proterozoic (~2440 Ma) layered intrusions in northern Finland was investigated using the multicomponent analysis techniques for natural remanent magnetization (NRM). Four remanence components were isolated by alternating field and thermal treatment. The most common magnetization, A, dominantly of normal polarity and with the mean direction $D = 346^\circ$, $I = 39^\circ$, k = 148, $\alpha 95 = 6^\circ$, N = 6 intrusions, is an overprint acquired during the peak of the Svecokarelian orogeny about 1880 Ma ago. The widespred hydrothermal activity during this orogeny also partly reset the U-Pb (Zr) isotopic system. Magnetization **B**, of normal polarity and with the mean direction $D = 25^{\circ}$, $I = 36^{\circ}$, k = 120, $\alpha 95 = 8^{\circ}$, N = 4, records either the termination of the Svecokarelian orogeny about 1750 Ma ago or a much younger geological event. Component D is dominantly of normal polarity and has the mean direction D = 114°, I = 48°, k = 15, α 95 = 21°, N = 5. Tentative contact and tilt tests suggest that this component was acquired during late stages of the primary cooling of the intrusions about 2400 Ma ago at the same time as the intrusions underwent tectonic tilting. The fourth component, E, with dual polarity, has the mean direction $D = 261^{\circ}$, I = 51°, k = 87, α 95 = 10°, N = 4 and is interpreted as a thermochemical overprint acquired during the Jatulian (~2100 Ma) rifting and faulting period. Basement granitoids surrounding the intrusions exhibit distinct Archaean (~2700 Ma) magnetization (with dual polarity), which is often masked by Svecokarelian overprints. A thermotectonic model for the origin, nature and relative ages of the remanence components will be proposed in the light of blocking temperature spectra, tilt and baked contact tests and remanence carriers. Based on the new Apparent Polar Wander Path (APWP), the drift history of Fennoscandia for the period 2700-1750 Ma is presented.

Key words: paleomagnetism, layered intrusions, remanent magnetization, absolute age, pole positions, polar wandering, continental drift, Proterozoic, Koillismaa, Koitelainen, Finland

The authors' address: Geological Survey of Finland SF-02150 Espoo, Finland

> ISBN 951-690-343-6 ISSN 0367-522X

CONTENTS

1 INTRODUCTION	5
2 GEOLOGICAL SETTING OF THE INTRUSIONS	7
2.1 Geology of the Koillismaa and Koitelainen intrusions	7
2.1. Ocology of the Kontistiaa and Koncianien intrusions	7
2.1.1. Ivai alikavaala	7
2.1.2. Syote	7
2.1.5. Lipedvala	0
2.1.4. Kaukua aliu Multolallipi	0
2.1.3. Koneiamen	0
3 U-Ph ISOTOPIC RESULTS	10
4 PALAFOMAGNETIC MEASUREMENTS	11
4.1 Field sampling	11
4.7. Laboratory measurements	13
4.2. Laboratory incasurements	14
4.5. Hysteresis properties	14
5 DALAEOMACNETIC DESLUTS	15
5.1 Demonstration of the second secon	15
5.1. Remanence component A	10
5.2. Remanence component B	1/
5.3. Remanence component D	19
5.4. Remanence component E	22
6. PALAEOMAGNETIC TESTS	24
6.1. Baked contact test	24
6.1.1. Unbaked Archaean rocks	25
6.1.2. Baked Archaean rocks	26
6.2. Tectonic tests	27
6.2.1. Structures of the layered intrusions	27
6.2.2. Tilt tests	28
6.2.2.1. Single tilt tests	28
6.2.2.2. Partial tilt tests	29
6.2.2.3. Two-stage tectonic tests	29
7. PALAEOMAGNETIC POLES AND APW PATH	30
7.1. Archaean poles	32
7.2. Pole D	32
7.3. Pole E	32
7.4. Pole A	34
7.5. Pole B	34
8. DRIFT HISTORY OF FENNOSCANDIA	35
8.1. Palaeolatitudes and palaeorotations of Fennoscandia	35
8.2. Kinematic features	35
9. CONCLUSIONS	37
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	38
REFERENCES	39
APPENDIX (Tables A1—A26)	

1. INTRODUCTION

As applied to Precambrian rocks, palaeomagnetism is a powerful method for unravelling the thermotectonic and kinematic histories of the shields. This is because the past movements of the tectonomagmatic blocks that form the present-day shields can be measured from their Apparent Polar Wander Paths (APWP) (e.g. Burke et al. 1976, Pesonen and Neuvonen 1981, Irving *et al.* 1984, Piper 1987). The basic requirement in applying palaeomagnetism to Precambrian tectonic problems is that the relative ages of the remanent magnetization components, which form the resultant natural remanent magnetization (NRM) vector, can be resolved by laboratory treatment of the rocks.

There exists a large gap (with no poles) between the Archaean (2700 Ma) and Svecokarelian (1900 Ma) APW segments (see also Pesonen and Neuvonen 1981, Elming 1985) in Fennoscandian palaeomagnetic database (Pesonen *et al.* 1989b). The only pole derived from Early Proterozoic rocks (Neuvonen 1975) is probably not primary as it is based on a study made before multicomponent analysis methods were invented. Therefore the drift of Fennoscandia during Early Proterozoic time is poorly defined, as is its position in relation with other shields (Piper 1982).

The Early Proterozoic mafic layered intrusions (age 2440 Ma) in northern Finland intruded into the Archaean basement or between the basement and Early Proterozoic supracrustal rocks (Fig. 1). The layered intrusions have attained considerable geological and geophysical interest because of their PGE-bearing Cu-Ni sulphide occurrences (e.g. Vuorelainen *et al.* 1982, Lahtinen 1985, Alapieti and Lahtinen 1986). They are ideal targets for establishing the APW path for the Early Proterozoic for the following reasons. First, they have been extensively mapped both geologically (Piirainen *et al.* 1974, 1978, Alapieti *et al.* 1979, Mutanen 1979,

Alapieti 1982, Söderholm and Inkinen 1982, Vuorelainen et al. 1982) and geophysically (Pesonen 1970, Saviaro 1976, Hjelt et al. 1977, Ruotsalainen 1977, Lammi 1986 and Rekola 1986). According to these studies, the intrusions are only slightly metamorphosed and thus warrant a search for a primary magnetization. Secondly, the intrusions are tectonically tilted and faulted (e.g. Alapieti 1982), making it feasible to test the possibility that some of the NRM components are pre-tilting. The intrusions have heated the nearby Archaean country rocks, enabling the baked contact test to be conducted and thus the type and age of the magnetizations to be established. Third, the U-Pb (Zr) isotopic age data (Alapieti 1982; and this study) reveal that although the intrusions were emplaced about 2440 Ma ago, there is evidence of isotopic resetting about 1900 Ma ago (H. Huhma, personal communication, 1984). Together with tectonic and contact tests, the age data create a favourable background against which to assign the absolute and relative ages of the palaeopoles and in this way to calibrate the Early Proterozoic APWP.

The purpose of this paper is to report new palaeomagnetic data on the Koillismaa and Koitelainen layered intrusions and on the surrounding Archaean terranes (see Fig. 1). We shall first report results from the multicomponent analysis of the NRM based on detailed demagnetization studies of the rocks. The relative ages of the components were established by investigating the blocking temperature spectra and hysteresis properties of the rocks and by gathering petrological information on the opaque oxides. The relationship between the magnetization ages and tectonics was then established with the aid of baked contact and tectonic tilt tests. From these, a model was deduced for the tectonomagmatic history of the intrusions and for the age, nature and origin of each component. In the



Fig. 1. General geological map of central northern Finland (after Simonen 1980 and Alapieti 1982). The black areas delineate the present locations of the Early Proterozoic layered intrusions that form two major belts, the western intrusions and the Koillismaa intrusions. These belts are separated by a major dextral strike-slip fault that passes either west (Gaál 1985) or east (Korhonen 1981) of the separated Koitelainen intrusion. The six intrusions studied in this work are Näränkävaara, Syöte, Lipeävaara, Kaukua, Murtolampi and Koitelainen.

light of these data we propose a new APW segment, calibrated with new, precise U-Pb (Zr) ages, for northern Fennoscandia 2700—1750 Ma ago. From the APW curve we calculated the palaeolatitudinal drift for Fennoscandia during Early Proterozoic

times. The tectonic and kinematic implications of this curve for the evolution of the Fennoscandian Shield during the Late Archaean - Early Proterozoic are discussed.

2. GEOLOGICAL SETTING OF THE INTRUSIONS

Figure 1 shows a general geological map of the study area in northern Fennoscandia. The major bedrock units are the Early Proterozoic granitoid and supracrustal units in the north and the Archaean granitic and gneissic basement terrane in the south. The Early Proterozoic layered intrusions, comprising about twenty separate bodies in a belt extending from eastern Sweden via western Finland to northwestern USSR (Alapieti and Lahtinen 1986), intrude the boundary between these major crustal units.

The mafic to ultramafic layered intrusions form two distinct belts in northern Finland: the western intrusions and the eastern Koillismaa complex (Fig. 1). The western belt comprises the bodies of Tornio, Kemi, Penikat, Suhanko-Konttijärvi, Kuohunki and Siikakämä and the Koillismaa complex consists of the Näränkävaara, Pirinvaara, Syöte, Porttivaara, Kuusijärvi, Lipeävaara, Kaukua and Murtolampi bodies. The largest layered intrusion body is the Koitelainen intrusion, which lies some 200 km north of the Koillismaa complex (Fig. 1). In this study we have concentrated on five Koillismaa intrusions (Näränkävaara, Syöte, Lipeävaara, Kaukua and Murtolampi) and on the Koitelainen intrusion.

2.1. Geology of the Koillismaa and Koitelainen intrusions

2.1.1. Näränkävaara

The sequence of the Näränkävaara intrusion (Fig. 2) begins with peridotites, which grade upwards into pyroxenites. The northeastern part of the intrusion consists of gabbroids, quartz diorites and granodiorites without any distinct layering. Although generally well preserved the rocks have locally undergone partial alteration, probably during the Svecokarelian orogeny (~1900 Ma ago) as evidenced by serpentinization of the ultramafic rocks.

The strike of the layering is norhtwest-southwest being nearly parallel to the long axis of the intrusion. Dips in the northwestern part are about 20° to the northeast and in the southeastern part about 10-15° to the southeast. The intrusion is cut by a northeast-trending fault. This faulting took place after the Svecokarelian orogeny (Alapieti, pers. comm. 1986).

Both a gabbro pegmatoid and a granodioritic late differentiate yield an U-Pb zircon age of about 2440 Ma (Alapieti 1982). Seventeen sites from different stratigraphic levels in the Näränkävaara intrusion were sampled (see Fig. 2).

2.1.2. Syöte

The lower part of the Syöte intrusion (Fig. 3)

consists of gabbro norites and the upper part is mainly of leuco-gabbros and anorthosites. A horizon of magnetite gabbro is found in the lower part of the leuco-gabbro and anorthosite sequence (Alapieti *et al.* 1979). Typical iron oxide minerals are titaniferous magnetite with ferrian ilmenite lamellae intergrown with homogeneous ilmenite. The intrusion is only slightly metamorphosed.

The Syöte intrusion tilts 30-40° to the northwest, exposing a complete stratigraphic sequence. The intrusion is characterized by several faults. The U-Pb zircon age for a mafic pegmatoid is about 2440 Ma (Alapieti 1982). Samples were collected from all stratigraphic units (Fig. 3).

2.1.3. Lipeävaara

The Lipeävaara intrusion forms the northern part of a syncline with the southern Kuusijärvi intrusion (Fig. 4). Most of the rocks are plagioclase cumulates forming gabbro norites and gabbros. The Lipeävaara intrusion is more strongly metamorphosed (greenschist to amphibolite facies) than the Näränkävaara and Syöte intrusions, as indicated by the replacement of pyroxene by uralite, magnetite by amphibole and ilmenite by leucoxene. The layering strikes northwest-southeast and dips about



Fig. 2. The layered intrusion of Näränkävaara (after Piirainen et al. 1978 and Alapieti 1982). The open circles denote sampling sites.

30° to the southwest. Mafic pegmatoids dated by the U-Pb (Zr) method are about 2440 Ma old (Alapieti 1982). The sampling sites are shown in Fig. 4.

2.1.4. Kaukua and Murtolampi

The Kaukua and Murtolampi intrusions, the smallest bodies in the Koillismaa complex (Fig. 5), are composed mostly of gabbro norites.

Their crystallization trend and metamorphism resemble those of the Lipeävaara intrusion. The Kaukua section tilts approximately 20° towards the south. Igneous layering in the Murtolampi intrusion is horizontal.

2.1.5. Koitelainen

The large circular intrusion of Koitelainen covers an area of about 400 km² (Fig. 6) and is surrounded by Lapponian metavolcanites and metasediments. Koitelainen is a typical layered intrusion, having a whole differentiation series from peridotites to gabbros and granophyres. The rocks are fairly metamorphosed, as indicated by uralitization, serpentinization and other mineral alterations (Mutanen 1979). Igneous layering dips gently (<15°) to the east or southeast. The intrusion has been dated (U-Pb) to about 2450 Ma (Mutanen 1980). Samples were taken from gabbros at three sites.



Fig. 3. The layered intrusion of Syöte (after Alapieti et al. 1979 and Alapieti 1982).



Fig. 4. The layered intrusions of Lipeävaara and Kuusijärvi (after Piirainen et al. 1978 and Alapieti 1982).

3. U-Pb ISOTOPIC RESULTS

The bulk of the U-Pb zircon data have previously been published by Alapieti (1982), and here we only report new data on the Siikakämä body in the western complex (Fig. 1). The investigated sample is from one of the few gabbro pegmatoids that yielded zircon for the U-Pb determinations. The sulphide bearing gabbro pegmatoid consists mainly of coarse-grained hornblende and partly of sericitized plagioclase. The Ti-bearing phase is rutile. Zircon occurs largely as brown subhedral grains with poorly developed crystal faces. Some grains have a distinct core.

The U-Pb isotopic data on zircon are given in Table A1 (Appendix). It is obvious that the zircon fractions do not give a precise age as do zircons from the blocks of the Koillismaa intrusion (Fig. 7). In a normal situation (e.g. Koillismaa), the zircons with the highest densities are the most concordant and give the oldest 207Pb/206Pb ages. In this case,

however, the heaviest zircons (A454A, A454B, A460A in Table A1) yield the youngest 207Pb/206Pb ages. This pattern is quite unusual and indicates a dual origin for the zircons. Zircons with density above 4.6 g/cm³ are distinct from other fractions for two reasons: 1) They are mostly transparent, whereas the others are turbid and 2) they have a low concentration of U and a high radiogenic 206Pb/208Pb ratio, indicating a source with a comparatively high U/Th ratio (Table A1).

The following model is proposed. Zircon formed primarily during the crystallization of the gabbro pegmatoid about 2440 Ma ago. In the course of the Svecokarelian orogeny, about 1900 Ma ago, the U-Pb system of zircon was partly reset, forming new zircon grains and mantles on the older zircon grains. The analysed zircon fractions are mixtures of these two generations. The HF-leached fraction, A454B, contains the highest proportion of transparent new



Fig. 5. The layered intrusions of Murtolampi and Kaukua (after Piirainen et al. 1978 and Alapieti 1982).

zircon, the fractions with density less than 4.2 g/ cm^3 having the highest proportion of original turbid zircon. Fractions A454E and A454F, with high U content, have lost lead by subsequent diffusion (Fig. 7). It is well known that zircon is generally resistant to metamorphic alteration, and the pattern

observed here can probably be attributed to locally intense hydrothermal activity resulting in an open metamict zircon system. This finding provides a key to interpreting the relative ages of NRM components.

4. PALAEOMAGNETIC MEASUREMENTS

4.1. Field sampling

Altogether 570 oriented samples were collected from the fifteen layered intrusions shown in Fig. 1: 290 from the western intrusions and 280 from the Koillismaa complex. Another 20 samples were collected from the Soilu Archaean basement granite, located about 15 km east of the Kaukua layered

11



Fig. 6. The layered intrusion of Koitelainen (after Mutanen 1979).



Fig. 7. Concordia plot of U-Pb zircon data on gabbro pegmatoids. + = Koillismaa complex intrusions, • = Siikakämä layered intrusion. Data on Koillismaa complex are from Alapieti (1982) and include data on Näränkävaara, Syöte, Lipeävaara and Porttivaara.

intrusion, and from the Penikat-Sompujärvi basement gneisses surrounding the Penikat intrusion (Fig. 1). The data from these samples were used in the baked contact tests.

Five or more samples were collected at each site. Most of them were cored with a portable water

cooled drill but some were taken as block samples. Orientation was done with the aid of the sun and magnetic compasses. The drilling and orientation techniques are described in detail in Mertanen *et al.* (1987).

4.2. Laboratory measurements

Altogether 625 cylindrical specimens were measured in the palaeomagnetic laboratory of the Geological Survey of Finland (GSF).

145 were demagnetized in an alternating field (a.f.) of up to 100 mT in steps of 10 mT by using a single axis demagnetizer (Pesonen *et al.* 1983), and 480 were thermally cleaned either in the Schonstedt TSD-1 furnace or in a homebuilt furnace (Leino 1979, Pesonen *et al.* 1983). Thermal demagnetization was performed in 100°C steps up to 500°C, in 20°C steps up to 560°C and in 10°C to 20°C steps up to 700°C, depending on the behaviour of the samples in the course of heating. The NRM measurements were carried out with spinner magnetometers as described by Pesonen *et al.* (1983).

The preliminary measurements showed that the NRM of the samples from nine of the intrusions

was either too weak $(J < 10 \text{ mAm}^{-1})$ or magnetically too unstable to yield reliable results. Thus the intrusions of Tornio, Kemi, Penikat, Suhanko-Konttijärvi, Kuohunki, Siikakämä, Pirinvaara, Porttivaara and Kuusijärvi were excluded from further study. Most of these intrusions are located in the western belt, close to the boundary of the Archaean and Proterozoic terranes (Fig. 1). However, the U-Pb isotopic analysis on zircons from one of these intrusions (Siikakämä) is still presented here since it is relevant in interpreting the relative ages of remanence components. Similarly, results from basement rocks near the Penikat intrusion are also used as they provide some evidence for a positive baked contact test even though the data on the Penikat intrusion itself are only tentative.



Fig. 8. Four examples of the IRM-acquisition curves of layered intrusions. Type I: the main remanence carrier is magnetite with MD grain size characteristics (see Table A2). Type II: the main remanence carrier is magnetite, possibly with hematite contribution, with SD-PSD grain size characteristics.

4.3. Hysteresis properties

The purpose of the hysteresis and isothermal remanent magnetization (IRM) measurements was to classify the magnetic grain size carriers of the rocks using the methods of Day *et al.* (1977) and Thompson and Oldfield (1986), and to study the viscous remanent magnetization (VRM) acquisition capacity of these rocks. The latter study is important as Lammi (1986) has shown that some samples from the layered intrusions can easily acquire laboratory remanences and are hence vulnerable to VRM due to the present Earth's field (PEF). The measurements were made at the Technical Research Centre of Finland using the apparatus and techniques described by Pesonen and Meinander (1985).

The results (Table A2) reveal that all samples with a magnetically soft and unstable NRM have multidomain (MD) hysteresis properties and that all samples with a hard and stable NRM are of single domain (SD) or pseudo-single domain (PSD) type. The samples from the magnetite-rich layers of the Syöte intrusion and from the diabase dykes are magnetically so soft (with MD hysteresis) that they easily pick up laboratory remanences when hammered (Lammi 1986). In some cases, however, a magnetically soft sample (e.g. ST1-1B, Table A2) has a small but stable NRM component which can be isolated after first removing the PEF overprint acquired viscously by the dominating soft MD grains.

On the bases of hysteresis and IRM data the samples can be divided into two groups (Fig. 8, Table A2). In the first group (type I, specimens ST6-1B and SY5-2A) the IRM increases linearly in weak fields and then is rapidly saturated in higher

4.4. Techniques for separating remanence components

Five different mathematical routines for separating the remanence components were applied to the demagnetization data. These are:

- a least-square line fitting method on data in two-dimensional vector plots (modified after Zijderveld (1967) and Dunlop (1979));
- (2) principal component analysis of vector data in three dimensional space (modified by Alarotu *et al.* (1986) after Kirschvink (1980));
- (3) the vector subtraction method;
- (4) stable end point (SEP) analysis;
- (5) various methods based on intersecting great circles (e.g. Hoffman and Day 1978, Halls 1979, Bailey and Halls 1984).

In the two-dimensional, least-squares method at least four data points must be present for line fitting. In the principal component analysis we only use linear segments (i.e. prolate ellipsoids in three dimensional space) of data. A minimum of three points is required, and the angular tolerancy angle in the linearity search is set at 6°.

In many cases we have found that the first vector difference (i.e. between the NRM and the first demagnetization step) gives the PEF. The method of stable end points (SEP) is used to estimate the direction of the hardest component, but this method often fails owing to the increased instrumental noise at higher demagnetization steps. However, we sometimes find evidence of a masked hard component by plotting the great circles to the last three to five data points on a stereonet. With the aid of converging families of great circles, we can define the hard component by their convergence point using the techniques described by Bailey and Halls (1984) and modified by Piila *et al.* (1986).

Investigations of data on single specimens with multicomponent magnetization showed that the orthogonal vector plots (Zijderweld plots) are often very complex. This is due not only to the presence of three to five superimposed components with overlapping coercivities or blocking temperatures but also to the instrumental noise, which increases at higher cleaning steps. The separation of the superimposed components succeeded sometimes but in many cases the scatter of data was so great that the results should be viewed with reserve. Even so, by systematically accumulating the component data on several specimens with different methods we obtained the characteristic magnetization directions that repeat themselves from specimen to specimen in a variety of lithologies. It is these components that we believe are the bearers of reliable palaeomagnetic information.

5. PALAEOMAGNETIC RESULTS

In the following we shall describe the five remanence components (A, B, D, E and PEF) that were isolated from rocks of all the Koillismaa intrusions. In addition to these, a less well defined component, A', was isolated from the Koitelainen intrusion. Most samples yielded two to three components, but in some as many as five remanence components could be isolated. The components are listed in Appendices A3—A23. The final mean directions are given in Table 1 and the palaeomagnetic poles in Table 2.

is acquired more slowly in weak fields. The

saturation takes place in fields of about 70-100 mT,

but there is some evidence of high field IRM acquisition (e.g. sample KA16-1c). This behaviour

is typical of SD-PSD magnetite grains with a

possible contribution of hematite (Thompson and

Oldfield 1986, Dunlop 1986).

		Before tilt correction					After tilt correction			
Component	Intrusion	N	D	Ι	α95	k	D	Ι	α95	k
А	(N,S,L,K,M,T)	6	346	39	6	148	343	34	15	20
В	(N,S,L,K)	4	25	36	8	120	19	46	26	14
D	(N,S,L,K,M)	5	114	48	21	15	115	54	28	8
E (N)	(N,S,L,K)	4	249	58	11	66	255	45	43	6
E (R)	(N,S,L,K)	4	77	-44	24	16	80	-37	31	10
E (COMB.)	(N,S,L,K)	4	261	51	10	87	265	39	30	10

Table 1. Grand mean directions of the remanence components

Intrusions: N = Näränkävaara, S = Syöte, L = Lipeävaara, K = Kaukua, M = Murtolampi, T = Koitelainen. COMB. = the combined mean direction of the normal (N) and reversed (R) data. N = number of intrusions. D = declination, I = inclination, α 95 = radius of 95 % confidence circle about the mean direction (calculated only when N>3), k = the precision parameter (Fisher 1953).

Table 2. Grand mean palaeomagnetic poles of the layered intrusions (data before tilt correction)

Component	Intrusion	Ν	Plat(°N)	Plon(°E)	A95	K	gr.
A	(N,S,L,K,M,T)	6	45	226	5	195	а
В	(N,S,L,K)	4	42	177	9	109	b
D	(N,S,L,K,M)	5	18	85	23	12	с
D (a.t.)	(N,S,L,K,M)	5	20	85	22	13	b
E (N)	(N,S,L,K)	4	27	334	14	42	с
E (R)	(N,S,L,K)	4	19	320	29	11	с

For intrusions see Table 1. N = number of poles used in mean pole calculation. Plat, Plon = the position of the mean palaeomagnetic poles. A95 = the half-angle of the 95 % circle of confidence of the mean pole. K = the precision parameter. gr. = grade of the pole, where a (very reliable), b (reliable), c (semi-reliable) and d (unreliable) (see Pesonen *et al.* 1989a). D (a.t.) = component D after a 15° tilt correction.

5.1. Remanence component A

Remanence component A represents the most common magnetization direction. It typically overprints other components, sometimes partially, sometimes totally. In most cases A is of normal (N) polarity but a few reversed A directions have been encountered (Mertanen *et. al.* 1987).

In some samples, for example, NA36-1C from the Näränkävaara intrusion, component A occurs alone (Fig. 9). The intensity decay curve is typically square-shouldered in this thermally demagnetized sample, indicating that the remanence carrier of A is a Ti-poor magnetite with blocking temperatures between 500 and 570°C. On alternating field demagnetization the intensity generally decreases more rapidly, but the direction is stable and the same as in thermally demagnetized samples.

A is often superimposed on other components. For example, in specimen SY11-1A, where A is superimposed on D (see next chapter) (Fig. 10), the blocking temperatures are clearly non-overlapping. Component A is first erased between 300 and 570°C. The resultant vector then moves along a great circle towards D which, on the Zijderweld plot, is isolated in a temperature range of 570—640°C and finally as a stable end point at 680°C.

Component A generally has slightly steeper inclinations in the Näränkävaara and Syöte intrusions than in the Lipeävaara, Kaukua and Murtolampi intrusions. In all intrusions the tilt correction between sites is clearly negative (i.e. Fisher k decreases significantly), suggesting that magnetization A is post-tilting (Tables A3—A8). The mean A direction, when no tilt correction is applied, is D = 346°, I = 39°, α 95 = 6°, k = 148, N = 6 (intrusions) (Table 1), with a palaeomagnetic pole Lat = 45°N, Lon = 226°E, A95 = 5°, K = 195 (Table 2).

In the Koitelainen layered intrusion, remanence

17



Down,W

Fig. 9. (a) stereoplot (equal-area projection), (b) normalized NRM intensity decay curve and (c) orthogonal vector plots of stepwise thermal demagnetization data on specimen NA36-1C (Näränkävaara). Closed (open) circles on stereoplot indicate positive (negative) inclinations. Labels are temperatures (°C). In (c) solid symbols indicate horizontal E versus N plane, open symbols denote vertical Up versus N plane. Linear segments indicate that a single vector is being erased over the temperature range indicated. Numbers on axis denote volume magnetizations normalized to NRM. Specimen NA36-1c is an example of a case in which the magnetization is mainly carried by component A.

component A has reset all other magnetizations in most samples. There is, however, another direction A' (N polarity) that is distinct from, although very close to A and typically has slightly higher blocking temperatures than A. The mean direction for A' is

D = 310°, I = 28°, α 95 = 12°, k = 115, N = 3 (sites), yielding a palaeopole Lat = 28°N, Lon = 264° E, dp = 6.9°, dm = 12.6° The results are summarized in Table A9.

5.2. Remanence component B

Component B is the least stable magnetization (besides PEF) having the lowest blocking temperature and coercivity spectra (Fig. 11). The remanence carrier is almost pure magnetite and the polarity is systematically normal.

B hardly ever occurs alone and there is often a possibility of confusing it with A, since in most samples they are superimposed and have very similar directions. The inclination of B differs from that of A by only a few degrees, but the declination differs by about 30°, being more easterly for B.

Component B is usually poorly defined when the resultant directions are plotted on a stereonet but because of the differences in blocking temperatures and coercivity spectra with respect to other components, it can be isolated in vector diagrams.



Fig. 10. Specimen SY11-1C (Syöte) is an example of nearly nonoverlapping blocking temperature spectra of components A and D. Crosses denote the subtracted vectors over the temperature range given in parentheses. Other plotting conventions used are as in Fig. 9.

An example of this is specimen SY1-1A (Fig. 12). The first component erased at low temperatures (20—100°C) is PEF. Although the B component is clearly isolated in the vector diagram at temperatures between 200 and 560°C, the resultant magnetization direction remains near the D direction (see next

chapter). At higher steps, the resultant vector moves in another direction (E), which is revealed by an end point at 600°C.

Contrary to other intrusions, there are as many samples from the Syöte intrusion in which B has a higher blocking temperature than A as there are samples that behave in the opposite manner. Moreover, B seems to be more frequent in the Syöte intrusion, than in the other intrusions. We have not been able to isolate B reliably from the Koitelainen and Murtolampi intrusions, although some hints of it do exist in some specimens.

The mean directions of B are presented in Tables A10—A13. Sites 2 and 13 at Näränkävaara and Syöte, respectively, were excluded because of the anomalously low inclinations. Elsewhere, the direction of B is well defined, even though the scatter between sites and between intrusions is higher than in component A. Tilt tests show clearly that B is post-tilting in all intrusions. The mean B direction (without tilt correction) is $D = 25^{\circ}$, $I = 36^{\circ}$, $\alpha 95 = 8^{\circ}$, k = 120, N = 4 (intrusions) (Table 1), with a palaeomagnetic pole Lat = 42°N, Lon = 177°E, A95 = 9°, K = 109 (Table 2).

Fig. 11. Blocking temperature spectra of components A, B, D and E for specimens from the Syöte intrusion. n = number of specimens from which a particular component has been isolated.

5.3. Remanence component D

Component D is only found in samples with multicomponent magnetizations. In most samples, it is partly overprinted by A or B and is often underlain by E (see next chapter).

D is best preserved in Syöte, where its occurrence is as common as that of A. In many samples, the resultant vector points towards D, indicating that its magnitude is greater than that of the other components (see Figures 10 and 12). The most common blocking temperature for D range between 560°C and 680°C (Fig. 11), implying that D is carried by both magnetite and hematite. In the multicomponent samples that have only magnetizations D and E, component D is erased at slightly lower temperatures than E.

Even though the Näränkävaara intrusion has been inferred to represent the best preserved intrusions of the Koillismaa complex (Alapieti 1982), component D is not prominent in this intrusion. This may be because the rock types of the Näränkävaara intrusion (peridotite, pyroxenite, serpentinite) are magnetically often so soft and unstable at higher temperatures that the various components cannot be identified. There are some specimens from Näränkävaara in which D has been revealed at both low and high temperatures,



Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 347 SYÖTE LAYERED INTRUSION



Fig. 12. In specimen SY1-1A (Syöte) the first component erased is PEF (X). Component B is isolated only on the Zijderweld plots (c) in a temperature range of 200-560°C. After 100°C the resultant moves along a short great circle towards component D, which is revealed in a temperature range of 560-600°C. The last demagnetization point (600°C) is near the direction of component E. Symbols as in Figs. 9 and 10.

indicating that it is carried by both magnetite and hematite. For example, in sample NN4-1A (Fig. 13), the lowest temperature component is D, which is carried by magnetite. After the isolation of component A the resultant then swings back to a high temperature D. Although there are only two points (570 and 580) in the vector diagrams, they support the existence of D, carried by hematite, at the end of demagnetization. This behaviour clearly demonstrates that A must be of thermochemical type (TCRM).

In Lipeävaara, Kaukua and Murtolampi, D occurs less frequently than A and B, probably reflecting the more intense metamorphism, and, hence, a relatively higher proportion of A and B in these intrusions. There are no signs of component D in the Koitelainen intrusion in which overprinting by component A seems to have been so strong that it has completely reset magnetization D.

Some samples from the Syöte intrusion reveal a reversed D direction (e.g. Fig. 14) that has not been found in other intrusions.

The scatter of D directions between sites and between intrusions is much greater than that of components A and B (Tables A14—A18), probably because there are many sites at which only one



Fig. 13. In specimen NN4-1A the first component to be erased, in a temperature range of 200—500 °C, is D. Component A is revealed in a temperature range of 500—560 °C. At the end of demagnetization the resultant returns to D. Symbols as in Figs. 9 and 10.



Fig. 14. In specimens PS7-1A (Syöte) the reversed D(R) was separated as a stable end point (a), and also on the Zijderweld plot (c). Component B was erased at temperatures between 200 and 540 °C. Symbols as in Figs. 9 and 10.

21

22 Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 347

sample shows D. Another explanation for the high scatter of D directions may be tectonic events (e.g. tilting and rotation), causing the originally wellgrouped D directions to become more scattered. Tilt corrections do not, however, significantly change the k values.

There is no correlation between rock types or

stratigraphy and the D direction as might be expected in a slowly cooled pluton (e.g. Morgan 1976).

The mean D direction, without tilt correction, is D = 114°, I = 48°, α 95 = 21°, k = 15, N = 5 (intrusions) (Table 1). The corresponding palaeomagnetic pole is Lat = 18°N, Lon = 85°E, A95 = 23°, K = 12 (Table 2).

5.4. Remanence component E

Remanence component E is nearly as common as D. It is magnetically the hardest and is usually isolated after thermal treatment at above 640°C. It is therefore inferred to be carried by hematite (Fig. 11). For example, in specimen L111-2B (Fig. 15), which carries all five components (PEF, A, B, D and E), E is isolated as a stable end point at 680°C.

Näränkävaara and Syöte show evidence of two distinct blocking temperatures for E. In most samples, magnetization E is carried by hematite with blocking temperatures of about 680°C. In some other samples, E is isolated at low temperatures, sometimes even lower than those at which components A and B are isolated when superimposed in the same specimen. Therefore E is probably of thermochemical origin and carried by magnetite (low blocking temperature) and hematite (high blocking temperature).

Progressive thermal demagnetization has revealed the presence of both normal (N) and reversed (R) E components within one and the same specimen. In many samples the normal component, E(N), occurs as a stable end point at about 680°C. The reversed component, E(R), is isolated at lower temperatures on Zijderveld diagrams, suggesting that E(R) is slightly younger than E(N).

The direction of the resultant vector very often remains nearly constant in a temperature range of about 580°C to 680°C, but at the same time a reversed E component is eliminated. The thermally harder normal E is then isolated as a stable end point. In most samples, E(R) is imperfectly (by about 10° to 30°) antiparallel to E(N).

Sample NA6-1A (Fig. 16) is an unusual example, showing superimposed normal and reversed E components also in the stereonet. Up to 580°C, the direction of the resultant is stable and component analysis yields the E(R) direction. Above 580°C, the resultant starts to migrate towards the opposite (E(N)) direction, which is isolated as a stable end point at 680°C. The absolute inclination of the E(N)component is about 35° steeper (downwards) than that of the reversed (upwards) component.

The directions of component E are very scattered, especially between samples. The dispersion is also markedly higher between sites than it is for other components (Tables A19—A23). The higher scatter for E may be due to the inadequate separation of other superimposed components. The scatter is especially high in the reversed E data. No correlation between E and rock type has been established. The tilt corrections between sites do not markedly change the k values, indicating that E postdates tilting.

Because of their anomalously low inclination, sites 2,4 and 15 are excluded from the mean in Table A20 (Syöte intrusion). The low inclinations may indicate that the normal and reversed E components were not fully separated from each other.

The declination of E in the Koitelainen intrusion (Table A23) differs from that in other intrusions by more than 50°. However, since in Koitelainen there is only one sample for each of the sites where E was isolated, these differences are not significant.

The mean direction (without tilt correction) for E(N) is $D = 249^{\circ}$, $I = 58^{\circ}$, $\alpha 95 = 11^{\circ}$, k = 66, N = 4 (intrusions) (Table 1) with a palaeopole Lat = 27°N, Lon = 334°E, A95 = 14°, K = 42 (Table 2). The mean direction for E(R) is $D = 77^{\circ}$, $I = -44^{\circ}$, $\alpha 95 = 24^{\circ}$, k = 16, N = 4 (intrusions) with a palaeopole Lat = 19°N, Lon = 320°E, A95 = 29°, K = 11 (Table 2).



Fig. 15. Specimen L111-2B carries all five magnetizations, PEF, B, A, D and E, which are revealed in this order (see the temperature ranges in parentheses on the stereoplot (a) and on the Zijderweld plots (c) and (d), where the latter is an enlargement of the origo area). The highest blocking temperature component E is found as a stable end point between 600 and 680°C in (a). Symbols as in Figs. 9 and 10.



Fig. 16. Sample NA6-1A (Näränkävaara) is an example of a case in which normal and reversed directions of E are superimposed in the same specimen. The first component to be erased is E(R), after which the resultant swings towards E(N). The intensity (b) is very weak after demagnetization at up to 580 °C, but the direction E(N) is stable and corresponds to directions revealed in many other samples. Symbols as in Figs. 9 and 10.

6. PALAEOMAGNETIC TESTS

6.1. Baked contact tests

The layered intrusions cooled relatively slowly (Alapieti 1982), causing thermometamorphic and metasomatic alterations in the country rocks (Piirainen *et al.* 1977) and thus making it possible

for the baked contact test to be carried out. The purpose of this test is to establish whether any of the magnetization components described above are primary and acquired during cooling of the intrusions at 2440 Ma ago, or secondary and acquired when the entire terrane was subjected to heating due to burial and regional metamorphism (e.g. Morgan 1976, Piper 1987). To discriminate between primary and secondary components a profile is sampled from an intrusion across the baked contact zone to the unbaked country rocks (e.g. Pesonen *et al.* 1985).

Unfortunately, the test was feasible at only two locations because of either a lack of outcrops or the existence of unstable magnetizations. We obtained unbaked and baked contact data from the Soilu basement area, about 15 km from the Kaukua intrusion, and from the Penikat-Sompujärvi area near the Penikat gabbro (Fig. 1). At Soilu we gathered data from both the intrusion and the unbaked rocks, but at Penikat-Sompujärvi our data are only from the baked and unbaked rocks because the results from the Penikat intrusion were not stable. The results are summarized in Table A24.

6.1.1. Unbaked Archaean rocks

Most samples from the basement gneisses carry multicomponent magnetizations. Component A, and less frequently B, often overprints a steep downward-pointing magnetization (G or P). In the Soilu basement area, we also discovered steep, upward-pointing directions (i.e. reversed polarity; Table 3, Fig. 17). The presence of both normal and reversed directions rules out VRM contamination by PEF. The palaeomagnetic poles, G (Soilu) and P (Penikat-Sompujärvi), representing these steep directions fall close to Archaean pole 1 previously established in the APWP of Pesonen and Neuvonen (1981). It is therefore conceivable that G and P are Archaean in age and that we have found an Archaean reversal. The paleomagnetic directions and poles from the Archaean basement rocks are summarized in Table 3.

Although we have probably isolated Archaean remanent magnetization components from the basement rocks, they are not very well defined. The magnetization in most Archaean samples is often too weak (less than 1 mAm⁻¹) to be measured with spinner magnetometers. It is also often difficult fully to trust remanence components isolated at very high temperatures.

Another problem with these rocks is related to tectonics and to the age of the characteristic magnetizations. The rocks have been dated by the U-Pb (Zr) method to 2738 Ma (G) (Lauerma 1982) and 2600 Ma (P) (Kouvo and Tilton 1966). These ages probably refer to the last regional heating of the terrane and may thus also represent the ages of remanences. It is likely that the terrane suffered some tectonic deformations later. However, because of the lack of structural references needed for correcting the remanence vectors, we could not correct the Archaean directions for tilt in this work.

	Glat (°N)	Glat Glon (°N) (°E)			I (°)	α95 (°)		Palaeomagnetic Pole			
Formation			Ν	D (°)			k	Plat (°N)	Plon (°E)	dp (°)	dm (°)
Soilu (N) Soilu (R)	65.9 65.9	28.7 28.7	3 4	254 84	77 —86	13 10	97 83	50.8 63.6	347.3 8.5	21.7 19.9	23.4 20.1
Soilu (G) (COMB.)	65.9	28.7	7	261	82	7	79	58.9	355.6	12.9	13.3
Ala-Penikat Sompujärvi	65.8 65.9	25.0 25.2	2 3	145 143	82 77	16	2188 64	51.8 44.5	39.9 45.5	10.1 27.2	10.4 29.1
Average (P)	65.9	25.1	2	143	80		645	48.2	43.0	17.8	18.8

Table 3. Remanent magnetization directions and palaeomagnetic pole positions from Archaean basement gneisses

For locations see Fig. 1. Glat, Glon = site latitude, longitude, N = number of basement samples from which the Archaean component has been isolated. Pole G is a combined result of Soilu normal and reversed data. For average (P), N is the number of formations. Plat, Plon = the position of palaeomagnetic pole (in case of R polarity the direction was inverted for pole calculation). dp, dm = semi-axes of 95% confidence oval about the pole. Other symbols as in Table 1.

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 347



Fig. 17. In specimen SG8-1A from the Archaean basement gneiss (Soilu area, Fig. 1) the reversed component G(R) was erased in a temperature range of 560—600°C on the Zijderweld plot and a stable end point at 580°C. Component A, which overprints G(R), was removed in a temperature range of 300—560°C.

6.1.2. Baked Archaean rocks

Remanence component D has been isolated from two Archaean sites (Ala-Penikat and Sompujärvi) of gneissic rocks located about two kilometres from the Penikat gabbro (Fig. 1, see also Mertanen *et al.* 1987). An example is shown in Fig. 18 (specimen AP34-1A), where the first component erased in thermal treatment is D with blocking temperatures of about 580°C. In further steps the resultant moves

26



Fig. 18. Sample AP34-1A from the Archaean basement gneiss, about two kilometres from the contact of the Penikat layered intrusion, carries the D component (erased at 570—620 °C) and the Archaean component P (stable end point).

towards the steep characteristic Archaean direction described previously. The occurrence of D as a lower blocking temperature component in the basement samples superimposing the steep Archaean direction, proves that this sample was partially baked by the gabbro and that D is a primary partial thermoremanent magnetization (pTRM).

About 15 kilometres from the Kaukua body of the Koillismaa intrusions (in the Soilu area, Fig. 1) no reliable D directions are found; the only directions in the basement rocks are the characteristic steep Archaean direction with dual polarities and components A and B. Thus the results of the baked contact test provide strong support for the supposition that D was acquired during cooling of the intrusions and their contact aureoles. Because of the lack of sites suitable for the full contact test, however, these results are only tentative. Nevertheless, they are important in assigning ages to the magnetization components.

6.2. Tectonic tests

The layered intrusions presumably underwent post-emplacement tectonic movements several times (Alapieti 1982). Since these processes affect the remanence components formed before the movements, the remanence vectors must be corrected. What is more, new remanence components are often formed during tectonic processes such as tilting and faulting. In this work, we studied the effects of pure tilting (ie. tilting of crustal blocks around the horizontal axis) and rotation due to faults. Before turning to the tectonic tests, we shall outline present knowledge of the structures of the layered intrusions.

6.2.1. Structures of the layered intrusions

Alapieti (1982) proposed that the westerly intrusions of the Koillismaa complex (Syöte, Porttivaara, Kuusijärvi, Lipeävaara, Kaukua and Murtolampi, Fig. 1) originally formed one elongated sheet like body (1—3 km thick). The Näränkävaara intrusion in the east constituted a separate wedge-

27

28 Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 347

shaped body connected with the western intrusions by a hidden dyke. The primary igneous layering was nearly horizontal in all intrusions. After emplacement, the Koillismaa complex broke up into a number of tilted blocks, which are now seen after a long period of erosion. The present dips vary from 0° (Murtolampi body) to about 50° (Syöte body). The direction of dips are generally to the south or north (see Figures 2—5). The time of tilting has not been firmly established, but according to Alapieti (pers.comm. 1986) it was probably about 2200 Ma ago (Jatulian time) or earlier.

Besides tectonic tilting around the horizontal axis, the layered intrusions in the Koillismaa area underwent also relative rotations and translations associated with strike-slip faults. One major fault is shown in Fig. 1, running almost north-south and passing the Koitelainen intrusion on either its western (Gaal 1985) or eastern side (Korhonen 1981). This major fault separates the Koillismaa belt from the Kemi-Suhanko belt.

6.2.2. Tilt tests

Because the time of tilting may not be the same as that of rotations, we first performed the tectonic tests on three successive levels:

1) On the first level (single tilting) we conducted tilt tests by assuming negligible rotations. We further assumed that tilting always took place along the long axis (strike) of the igneous sheets. The dips vary from zero to about 50°, which is the maximum observed. These tilt tests were done on two hierarchical levels: between sites and between intrusions.

2) On the second level we conducted progressive tilt tests between intrusions by subjecting them to stepwise detilting in 5° intervals from the original horizontal attitude to the present maximum dips of layering (see e.g. Miller and Kent 1986). For comparison, stepwise tilt tests were done for components D and E.

3) On the third level we carried out tectonic tests in two stages (Douglas 1988): first the intrusions were tilted and then they were rotated. Two major rotations were studied. For the first one we assumed that the bodies of the Koillismaa complex originally formed a coherent east-west trending body that was later broken up by a major strike-slip fault. Thus the present long axis trends of the bodies are due to rotations caused by this fault. The necessary corrections ("derotations") were measured from the original east-west direction of the bodies to their present strike directions.

Second, the bodies were reconstructed to their original positions along the major fault that passes east of the Koitelainen body. This reconstruction which is based on Korhonen's (1981) aeromagnetic interpretation model requires both rotation and linear translation of the bodies. In this work only rotation angles could be used as the effect of minor linear (less than 180 kilometre) translations on NRM vectors is negligible.

The rotation angles and strike/dip data used in both cases are shown in Table 25. The tests were carried out twice, first omitting the Näränkävaara body and second including it, the idea being that Näränkävaara may not have moved much from its original position (Alapieti 1982).

6.2.2.1. Single tilt tests

The results of single tilt tests for each component are summarized in Tables A3—A23 (between sites) and in Table 1 (between intrusions). Scrutiny of the tables reveals that, in general, the results are negative. However, there are a few exceptions: Tables A14 and A15 show that after a full tilt correction, the between-site scatter of component D(N) in the Näränkävaara and Syöte intrusions was slightly, albeit not significantly, reduced (k increased). The variation in dip within the intrusions is, however, quite small. The usefulness of the tests in this case is thus restricted, and no firm conclusions can be drawn from them.

If we study the scatter of directions between intrusions (Fig. 19), we notice that all remanence components are more scattered once corrections for tilt have been made, suggesting that they post-date the tilting. This is particularly true for components A, B and E, but not so much for D, whose k value decreased less than did those of the other components (Table 1). Using this evidence, we looked into the possibility that D is either pre-or syn-tilting. However, the full detilting "overshot" the true correction.



Fig. 19. Mean directions of different components in all six intrusions before (b.t.c.) and after (a.t.c.) tilt corrections. Labels: N = Näränkävaara, S = Syöte, L = Lipeävaara, K = Kaukua, M = Murtolampi, T = Koitelainen. (a) component A, (b) component B, (c) component D, (d) component E. Solid (open) symbols denote positive (negative) inclinations.

6.2.2.2. Partial tilt tests

Partial tilt corrections were conducted by stepwise detilting at 5° intervals. The results, which are shown in Fig. 20, clearly demonstrate that if all five intrusions are included, the k value for D increases up to a dip value of about 5°, after which it starts to decrease once more. For all other components, k decreased at all dip values (see component E, for example, Fig. 20). These results support the idea that D is probably syn-tectonic, acquired during the late stages of tectonic tilting. The test in Fig. 20, however, is very sensitive to the number of intrusions included. If the Kaukua body is omitted (the attitudes of igneous layering of this body are very poorly known), positive tilt test results are obtained for D when a dip value of about 15° (roughly 50% of detilting) is used. This further supports the concept that D is primary and was acquired during the tilting of the bodies.

6.2.2.3. Two-stage tectonic tests

Table A26 summarizes the results of the twostage tests with tilting and rotation or vice versa as the stages. Two main conclusions can be drawn from these results. First, in all cases (except one for D), the results are negative: k values tend to decrease whatever the order of the two-stage correction and whether Näränkävaara is included or not. Second, the k values tend to be slightly higher in case II (major faulting running east of Koitelainen, Fig. 1) than in case I, giving some backing to the tectonic reconstruction by Korhonen (1981). The only time the k value increased after the two-stage correction was component D in case I, but even this is not significant (at 95%) and so we could not fully reconstruct the bodies back to their original (pretilting and pre-faulting) positions.

The results of all the above tectonic tests suggest that D is syntectonic and that the tilting, or part of

29

30



Fig. 20. Precision parameter k (Fisher 1953) vs incremental dip correction (in 5° intervals) for components D (a) and E (b). The five intrusions (solid curves) are Näränkävaara, Syöte, Lipeävaara, Kaukua and Murtolampi. The dashed lines (N = 4) denote the results when the Kaukua intrusion is excluded (see text).

it, took place immediately after crystallization. It is conceivable that the tilting of the bodies is related to the major fracturing of the crust that opened the channels allowing the magma to pour out. Component D is therefore primary, formed at late stages of primary tectonic tilting (and probably rotation of the bodies) about 2400 Ma ago. All the other components are clearly secondary and formed after the tilting. In Table 2, therefore, we have calculated the final palaeopoles for D both with and without tectonic (15°) tilt correction. No tilt correction was applied to any of the other components when their palaeopoles were calculated.

7. PALAEOMAGNETIC POLES AND APW-PATH

Before the APWP for Fennoscandia during 2700—1750 Ma could be redrawn, the relative ages of components A, B, D and E had to be established. Figure 21 summarizes the thermotectonic evolution model (model I of Mertanen *et al.* 1987) in which the absolute and relative ages, carriers and nature of remanence components are presented on the basis

of blocking temperatures, U-Pb (Zr) age data, studies of opaque oxides (e.g. Alapieti 1982) and palaeomagnetic tests. The new APWP (Fig. 22) was drawn according to this model. Alternative models (II and III) have also been proposed (Mertanen *et al.* 1987) but they are less successful in explaining the interpreted data.

2	
- 4	
	-

					REMA	NENT MAGNET	IZATION (N	RM)
TIME (Ma)		TECTONIC EVENTS	EPOCH	TECTONISM OR MAGMATISM	OMPONEN	T TYPE	NATURE	MAIN
100	0				PEF	VRM	secondary	mt
200	20							
300	BO							
400 -	ANE	CALEDONIAN		overthrust mild reheating				
500 -	H	OROGENY		hydrothermal activity	(B)	pTRM or CRM	secondary	mt
	S.							IIII
1300	M							
1400	e		Late	?	(B)	pTRM or CRM	secondary	mt
1500	p p	MAGMATISM	Middle	plutonism				
1600	Σ		Early	?				
1700 -	U				_			
1800		SVECOKARELIAN	Late	granitic magmatism	B	pTRM (slow)		mt(a) hm(a)
1900	N	OROGENY	Early	peak of the orogeny	A'	TCRM (slow)	secondary	mi(s), mi(s)
2000	0							
2100	<u>m</u>		Late	mafic dykes, sills				
2200	Ш > 	JATULIAN		hydrothermal activity	Е	TCRM (slow)	secondary	hm, mt
2300	Па	TECTONISM AND MAGMATISM	Middle	mild reheating of crust faulting, mafic magmatism				
2400	œ			tilting, block faulting and erosio	n D	TRM (rapid)	primary	mt(p), hm(p)
2500	٩			emplacement of layered intrusic early fracturing of crust	ons			
2600								
2700		End of Archaese			GP	2 TODM	2	
2800		cratonization			G,P	TCRM	?	mt, hm
	VN							

Fig. 21. The thermotectonic interpretation model (model I of Mertanen et al. 1987) for the growth and evolution of the magnetization components isolated from the Early Proterozoic layered intrusions and from the Archaean basement rocks of this study. The model integrates the information from four sources: (i) palaeomagnetism (this work), (ii) rock magnetism (this work), (iii) age determinations (this work), (iv) structural geology and opaque oxides (e.g. Alapieti et al. 1982). For two alternative interpretation models (models II and III) see Mertanen et al. 1987. The nomenclature used is explained in the text. mt = magnetite, hm = hematite, p = primary, s = secondary. Two alternative ages for component B are also shown (B in parentheses) as explained in text.

Magnetizations D and E are considered older than components A and B because components D and E have higher blocking temperatures than components A and B (Fig. 11), which have thermally overprinted and partly reset the underlying older components. The results from the baked contact and tilt tests support this interpretation.

Grand mean palaeomagnetic poles for different remanence components are listed in Tables 2 and 3. In calculating the grand mean palaeomagnetic poles

we assumed the hypothesis of a standard Axial Geocentric Dipole Field (AGDF) although this assumption may not necessarily be valid. For example, the reversals in the D and E components are not exactly antiparallel. For D(N) and D(R) this could simply be due to the data (only few D(R) data are available, Table A15) but for E it may reflect a real polarity asymmetry. The grading (a, b, c) of the poles follows the same scheme as in Pesonen et al. (1989a).

7.1. Archaean poles

In the APWP (Fig. 22) pole number one (1) is the only Archaean pole so far available from the Fennoscandian Shield (Neuvonen *et al.* 1981). The age of this "anchor" pole, obtained from the Varpaisjärvi quartz diorite within the Karelian craton, is about 2680 Ma.

Pole G (dual polarity) was obtained from the Soilu basement granite (Fig.1). The normal, reversed and combined poles are presented in Table 3. According to U-Pb (Zr) age determinations the Soilu granite is 2738 Ma old (Lauerma 1982).

Pole P (Table 3; Fig. 22) is an average of poles from the basement gneisses (Ala-Penikat and Sompujärvi) surrounding the Penikat intrusion (Fig. 1). An U-Pb zircon analysis from a granite in Sompuvaara, near the sampling site of Sompujärvi, yielded an age of about 2600 Ma (Kouvo and Tilton 1966). Therefore, the Archaean age (~2700 Ma) of poles G and P is corroborated by the consistency between these poles and the Varpaisjärvi pole (1) and by the existence of both normal and reversed NRM directions.

7.2. Pole D

According to the proposed model, pole D is primary, having formed during the long lasting crystallization and cooling of magma about 2400 Ma ago. Component D is most likely syn-tectonic, acquired when the tilting was complete. The evidence supporting this interpretation is as follows:

1) Direction D can best be isolated in the Syöte intrusion, which is considered to have suffered less than other intrusions from later metamorphism (Alapieti 1982).

 Magnetization D is mainly carried by hematite which was partly formed from a subsolidus reaction of ilmenite and can thus be considered primary (Alapieti, pers. comm. 1986).

3) The baked contact tests support the idea that D formed during the late stages of primary cooling of the layered intrusions and their contact aureoles.

4) Tilt tests indicate that component D was acquired either during, or just slightly after, the structural tilting of the bodies. Schwarz et al. (1979) have described a similar case from the Skaergaard layered intrusion in Greenland. The fact that the intrusions were still elastic when the tilting took place (Alapieti 1982), provides further support for the blocking of magnetization D during tilting in the Koillismaa area.

7.3. Pole E

On the basis of the palaeomagnetic tests, pole E is considered younger than pole D (Fig 21). One possible model for the origin of E is a TCRM acquired during a post emplacement tectonomagmatic process. The following findings support this interpretation:

1) Even though, in most samples magnetization E has been isolated as a stable end point, at which the highest blocking temperatures (about 660—700°C) prevail, there are many samples in which it was acquired at lower blocking temperatures. According to Morgan and Briden (1981), the most likely explanation for the wide range of blocking temperatures is a low-temperature TCRM. Such a

thermochemical remanence, if carried by secondary hematite and magnetite, would have blocking temperatures ranging from 200°C to 700°C, as was indeed observed. Alapieti (pers. comm. 1986) has pointed out that there are two types of hematite in these rocks: primary hematite, which formed from the crystallizing magma, and secondary hematite, which formed during later tectonomagmatic processes. We propose that magnetization E is carried by the secondary hematite.

If magnetization E is of thermochemical origin, the bipolar nature implies slow chemical growth. The occurrence of both normal and reversed directions in the same specimen indicates that the E

33



Fig. 22. The proposed new APW path for Fennoscandia during 2700-1750 Ma. Order of ages of the poles from oldest to youngest: (1)—>G—>P—>D—>E—>A'—>A.—>B. A, B, D and E denote average poles from the layered intrusions (see Tables 2 and 3 for summary) without tectonic corrections. The arrow in D shows the mean D pole if a 15° structural tilt is applied (see text). Other poles are: 1 = Archaean pole from the Varpaisjärvi basement gneiss (Neuvonen *et al.* 1981), G = pole from the Archaean gneiss surrounding the Penikat intrusion, A' = deviating A pole from Koitelainen, V = pole from the Jatulian Nilsiä diabases (Neuvonen *et al.* 1981). Solid (open) symbols denote normal (reversed) polarity. The normal and reversed polarities of pole E are joined with dotted lines.

magnetization developed while the Earth's field was reversing. This may be one explanation for the large scatter in E directions between specimens, as some directions could record the intermediate transitional fields.

2) The great dispersion of tilt corrected remanence component E clearly implies that E was acquired after the tilting was complete (Figs. 19 and 20, Table 1).

3) The Archaean gneisses near the contacts with layered intrusions do not show E as clearly as they do D. Component E, which probably formed during low temperature hydrothermal processes, has been isolated from only a few samples right at the contact, but not from more distant unbaked gneisses or granites. One reason for this may be the difficulty of isolating the high-temperature components from the weakly magnetized basement samples.

The great angular distance (~110°) between the D and E poles indicates considerable APW between the magnetization events of D and E. We propose

that magnetization E resulted from Jatulian rifting and faulting, which fractured the crust about 2200— 2000 Ma ago. Thermally the process was mild and did not produce any clear metamorphic changes. The heating effect was, however, high enough (200—300 °C) for the new secondary hematite grains with a TCRM to grow slowly in the rocks. According to this model, the rate of plate motion between magnetizations D (2440 Ma) and E (2200 Ma) would have been about 2 cm/yr, as measured from the APW path, which is roughly the same as the average Precambrian APW velocity of Fennoscandia (Pesonen *et al.* 1989a).

The E poles from the Koitelainen intrusion (T, Fig. 22) were excluded from the APW path as they differ markedly from the other poles. It is possible that local tectonic events in the Koitelainen intrusion (faulting and rifting during or after the Jatulian) affected the E (and A') directions (e.g. Korhonen 1981).

7.4. Pole A

Component A represents the best established magnetization direction in the layered intrusions and very often overprints components D and E. The blocking temperatures are below 580°C (Fig. 11), indicating that A is carried by magnetite (or titanomagnetite) with a variety of grain sizes.

Because A can be isolated from all intrusions and also from baked and unbaked basement rocks, we interpret direction A to date from the time of cooling and uplift immediately following regional metamorphism. The Svecokarelian orogeny (1900---1750 Ma ago) was very extensive in the Fennoscandian Shield. However, it is not known how far into the Archaean craton the effects of this orogeny penetrated. From geological studies it is known that the western part of the Koillismaa complex and the intrusions in the Suhanko-Konttijärvi and Kuohunki area suffered from the effects of Svecokarelian metamorphism more than did the eastern parts of the Koillismaa complex. However, present findings indicate that the eastern intrusions are also overprinted by the Svecokarelian orogeny. Accordingly, magnetization directions from the Taivalkoski-Syöte area (Neuvonen 1975) more likely represent the Svecokarelian overprint than the primary direction. The direction and pole obtained by Neuvonen are very close to the A direction and pole of this study.

The Koitelainen intrusion in particular was affected by the Svecokarelian metamorphism and obviously lost its primary (D) magnetizations. The orogeny produced two slightly different magnetizations, A and A'. Component A' has slightly higher blocking temperatures than A. In the APWP (Fig. 22) interpretation, A' appears older than A indicating that the Svecokarelian orogeny was blocked slightly earlier in the Koitelainen area than in the south. The Lapland Granulite belt, located about 30 km north of Koitelainen, underwent Svecokarelian metamorphism some 50 Ma earlier than did other parts of Fennoscandia (Gaál *et al.* 1989), in consistency with our interpretations of relative ages of A' and A.

The deviating directions in Koitelainen may also result from some local tectonic rotations caused by large scale strike-slip faults as shown in Fig. 1.

The A directions, representing the Svecokarelian overprinting, have been reported in many palaeomagnetic studies of Fennoscandian rocks (e.g. Pesonen and Stigzelius 1972, Elming 1985). As described previously (Chapter 3), in the Suhanko-Konttijärvi area the overprinting was, at least locally, so effective that some zircon in a gabbro pegmatoid was able to recrystallize about 1900 Ma ago (Fig. 7, Table A1). The notion that A represents a Svecokarelian overprint is supported by the polarity data, which reveal that A is almost always of normal polarity, as are most other Svecokarelian directions in Fennoscandia (Pesonen and Neuvonen 1981).

7.5. Pole B

Two interpretation models are presented for the origin of pole B and in both of them, B is suggested to be the youngest component (Fig. 21).

On the basis of the blocking temperature spectra (Fig. 11) and APW interpretation (Fig. 22), we propose that pole B was acquired at a late stage of the slow cooling and uplift that followed the Svecokarelian orogeny. Alternatively, the orogeny may have taken place in three distinct pulses (Early, Middle and Late) (Baer 1981, Pesonen *et al.* 1989a), B representing the last one.

The blocking temperature spectra of A and B

(Fig. 11) overlap with B almost invariably having a lower blocking temperature than A. This is as would be expected if they were formed by the same continuous thermal process (i.e. they are both pTRMs).

A very plausible model for A', A and B is therefore the one in which A' denotes the Early phase, A the Middle phase and B the Late phase of the long lasting Svecokarelian orogeny (1900— 1750 Ma). On the APW path, the age of A' is about 1900 Ma, that of A about 1880 Ma and that of B about 1750 Ma. This model may, however, be too simple as some specimens (e.g. Fig. 13) clearly show that A is chemical rather than thermal in character. According to this model, the interval between magnetizations A and B was about 130 Ma, implying considerable movement of the Fennoscandian Shield with respect to the pole (Fig. 22).

According to the second model, component B was formed by a much younger geological process with a very mild thermal effect. Two geologically young events that led to the formation of component B are proposed.

On the APW paths (Bylund and Pesonen 1987, Pesonen et al. 1989a) pole B fits well with the end of the Subjotnian loop tentatively dated to about 1320 Ma. This time corresponds to the start of Jotnian rifting in Fennoscandia (Simonen 1980). Although there is no direct geological evidence of active rifting in northern Fennoscandia 1300 Ma ago, there are indications of post-Jotnian magmatism in the vicinity of the study area, namely mafic dyke swarms 1150 Ma in age (Kalix dykes, Kresten *et al.* 1981 and Salla dyke, Lauerma 1987).

The other possibility is that B reflects a mild

reheating event during the Palaeozoic era (Carboniferous-Permian period ca. 360-260 Ma ago). Although there are no direct geological data on the layered intrusions to confirm this idea, the direction of B (D = 25° , I = 36° , Table 1) is not significantly different from the mean Carboniferous direction in Fennoscandia (D = 32°, I = 30°; Pesonen et al. 1989b). In this respect it is noteworthy that the lower discordia intercepts in the U-Pb concordia diagram (307±81, Fig. 7) of the Koillismaa intrusions can be interpreted in terms of a mild overprint during Carboniferous times. According to Zonenshein et al. (1985), hot-spot related alkaline magmatic activity occurred on the Kola Peninsula, not far from the study area ~360 Ma ago. Slightly later (during Permian times, ~290-260 Ma ago), this was followed by another phase of intensive magmatic activity in the Oslo graben area of southern Fennoscandia. There is thus a distinct possibility that magnetization B reflects the palaeomagnetic signature of widespread regional Carboniferous -Permian overprinting in the Archaean - Early Proterozoic parts of the Shield.

8. DRIFT HISTORY OF FENNOSCANDIA

8.1. Palaeolatitudes and palaeorotations of Fennoscandia

The drift history of Fennoscandia (Fig. 23) was calculated from the APWP of Fig. 22 using the method of Pesonen *et.al.* (1989a). The town of Kajaani (Lat = 64.2° N, Lon = 27.7° E) was selected as the reference location, and the polarity is as in Table 3. This method places Fennoscandia at the correct palaeolatitudes and in the correct orientation with respect to its orientation in the present coordinate system. Palaeolongitudes can not be

determined from palaeomagnetic data. Hence, to be able to visualize Fennoscandia in the different positions of successive periods, it was shifted arbitrarily to the right.

The drift map (Fig. 23) also outlines the crustal growth of Fennoscandia due to successive orogenies (presumably caused by collisions with other shields) from Archaean to Early Proterozoic times while the Shield was drifting across the palaeolatitudes.

8.2. Kinematic features

During Late Archaean times, from 2700 Ma to about 2600 Ma ago, Fennoscandia was located at high northerly latitudes and, as established by poles G and P, underwent only moderate latitudinal shifts (Fig. 22). At that time Fennoscandia was a Karelian nucleus (shaded area in Fig. 23) and included the

DRIFT HISTORY OF FENNOSCANDIA



Fig. 23. The drift history of Fennoscandia during Late Archaean — Early Proterozoic times 2700—1750 Ma ago according to the APW path in Fig. 22. Positions of Fennoscandia calculated from the poles shown in Tables 2 and 3. The position of Fennoscandia (1) is from Pesonen and Neuvonen (1981). Fennoscandia is located in its correct palaeolatitudes with respect to its present orientation. The longitudinal shift is arbitrary but the rotations of Fennoscandia were determined from declination data relative to its present orientation in the upper right corner. The growth of the Shield during 2700—1750 Ma is also outlined.

Kola and Karelian cratonic blocks, which we assume to have been united. During the interval 2700— 2600 Ma ago (from G to P) Fennoscandia rotated anticklockwise by more than 150°. This rotation, which took place at the end of the Archaean, is, however, poorly defined as there are numerous uncertainties in the declinations of both the G and P poles when the inclinations are very steep.

During the Early Proterozoic era, from 2600 Ma to about 2440 Ma ago, but before the crust was fractured, Fennoscandia drifted from high to moderate (northerly) latitudes with no major rotations. The latitudinal drift rate at that time was about 2.3 cm/yr. Magnetization D was acquired during the late stages of this fracturing, at the same time as the blocks were tilted. Fennoscandia subsquently underwent another considerable rotation of about 130°, but now clockwise (from D to E). This rotation was associated with multiphase Jatulian rifting, magmatism and faulting about 2200—2000 Ma ago. The high kinematic activity in the Shield can be considered as a prelude to the Svecokarelian orogeny, which was initiated about 2000 Ma ago and continued up to 1750 Ma ago. Components A' and A are signatures of the Early stages of this orogeny and component B is a late orogenic magnetization. The Svecofennian orogeny was preceded by considerable anticlockwise rotation (from E to A'), which is most likely associated with the collision of Fennoscandia with Laurentia as proposed by Pesonen and Neuvonen (1981). During the Svecokarelian orogeny proper (1900-1750 Ma ago) Fennoscandia remained at low latitudes and rotated anticlockwise about 40° (from A' to B). Thereafter it remained at low latitudes with the exeption of occasional visits to high southerly latitudes during the Sveconorwegian orogeny (1050-850 Ma ago), after which it returned to northerly latitudes and to its present location and orientation (Fig. 23; see also Pesonen et al. 1989a,b).

9. CONCLUSIONS

Four distinct ancient remanence components, A, B, D and E, have been isolated from the Early Proterozoic layered intrusions in northern Finland. In most samples these components exhibit partly overlapping blocking temperatures and coercivity spectra, enabling them to be separated by the combined use of multicomponent analysis techniques.

Tilt tests show that remanence components A, B, and E are post-tilting but that D is probably syntectonic and acquired when approximately 50 % of the tilting had already taken place (about 2400 Ma ago). The primary origin for D is also supported by baked contact tests.

The new APW path, based on poles A, B, D and E, is presented in Fig. 22, with poles G and P from the Archaean basement gneisses surrounding the layered intrusions included. On the basis of the fol-lowing evidence, the most probable order of poles from oldest to youngest is $G \rightarrow P \rightarrow D \rightarrow E \rightarrow A \rightarrow B$.

1) Pole A represents the best established magnetization. It has the highest magnitude and in most samples it partly or completely overprints other components. Its blocking temperature, around 580° C, indicates that it is carried by magnetite.

We propose that component A is an overprint acquired during the uplift and slow cooling that followed the Svecokarelian orogeny. The A overprint can also be isolated from Archaean basement rocks. Our results thus envisage the penetrative effect of the Svecokarelian orogeny far into the Archaean-Early Proterozoic terranes. Pole A fits well with the Svecokarelian segment of the APW path of Pesonen et al. (1989a). According to this path, the age of magnetization A is about 1880 Ma. This age is supported by the U-Pb age determinations on zircons, which not only reveal the emplacement age (2440 Ma) of the intrusions, but also provide evidence of a younger disturbance about 1900 Ma ago (Fig. 7). A is clearly of normal polarity consistent with other Svecokarelian poles from elsewhere in Fennoscandia. Multicomponent analysis and blocking temperature spectra verify that A is of TCRM type.

Component A' from the Koitelainen intrusion is

always isolated at higher temperatures than A. This probably reflects a real palaeomagnetic signature of the Svecokarelian orogeny, which started slightly earlier (~1950 Ma ago) in the Koitelainen area than further south in the Koillismaa area (~1900 Ma ago). This is consistent with the notion that metamorphism in the Granulite complex (near Koitelainen) started also slightly earlier than in the south (Gaál *et al.* 1989).

2) Remanence component B has lower blocking temperatures than A. So far there is no evidence of the true age of magnetization B. On the basis of overlapping blocking temperatures with component A, we propose that B was acquired at the termination of the Svecokarelian orogeny, about 1750 Ma ago. Corroboration is provided by the existence of similar late Svecokarelian poles elsewhere in northern Fennoscandia (Piper 1980, e.g. Elming 1985, Pesonen et al. 1989a,b). The position of pole B on the APW path suggests that B is either 1750 Ma or 1320 Ma old. In the latter case it could represent a palaeomagnetic signature of the start of Jotnian rifting in northern Finland. Yet a third alternative is that pole B represents a much younger Palaeozoic remagnetization event.

3) The relatively high blocking temperature of component D indicates that it is carried by magnetite and, in most cases, by hematite, too. In most samples D has survived the reheating effect of the overprinting components, A and B.

In the light of blocking temperatures and positive contact tests, we postulate that D represents the primary magnetization acquired during the cooling of the layered intrusions. However, the intrusions must have been partly tilted before the blocking of D, which took place at a temperature of about 580-680°C. D was probably magnetized between the final crystallization of the cooling magma and the tilting of the intrusions about 2400 Ma ago. The age of the crystallization of zircon is about 2440 Ma, which is the upper limit of the age of D. The position of pole D on the APW path (Fig. 22) is one that has not previously been recorded from Precambrian rocks in the Fennoscandian Shield.

4) Component E has the highest blocking temperatures and is mainly carried by hematite.

However, in many cases, E is also evident at lower blocking temperatures, which is considered to indicate its TCRM origin. Many samples also show reversal to magnetization E, often in one and the same specimen. The reversal may have been achieved during the slow chemical growth of secondary hematite. The reversed E component tends to be acquired at slightly lower temperatures than the normal E component, and there is a significant asymmetry in reversal.

Component E must have been formed after component D. The great scatter in E direction between intrusions after tilt correction indicates that E is post-tilting. It is possible that the mild thermal event that caused magnetization E was the Jatulian rifting and faulting episode about 2200—2000 Ma ago. On the APW-path (Fig. 22) the pole position E has not been documented from any other rock units in Fennoscandia. This may be because the Fennoscandian data base (Pesonen *et al.* 1989b) still lacks the "true" Jatulian pole (see Neuvonen 1975).

Poles D and E can be tentatively used to build up the Early Proterozoic APW path for Fennoscandia, but the possibility that their positions are aberrant as a result of local tectonic rotations within Fennoscandia must be taken into account when interpreting the APWP and the drift history of Fennoscandia.

5) Two new poles from Archaean basement rocks have been discovered. Pole G was isolated from the Soilu granite (age 2738 Ma,) which was not affected by the baking effect of the layered intrusions and pole P was isolated from the same basement gneisses (age 2600 Ma) in the Penikat area, that carry the superimposed components D and E. Components G and P have not been encountered in layered intrusions and they probably represent magnetization directions acquired during late Archaean times. Both polarities are present. G and P, although not statistically well established, are consistent with the pole of the Varpaisjärvi diorite (~2680 Ma; Pole 1) in the southern part of the Karelian craton (Pesonen and Neuvonen 1981). Thus it is suggested that no large scale movements have taken place between the basement blocks of northern Finland and the southern Karelian block in Central Finland (Varpaisjärvi block).

Both the APW path (Fig. 22) and the drift map of Fennoscandia (Fig. 23) exhibit several prominent kinks and rapid changes in drift that are the palaeomagnetic signatures of kinematic processes in the shield history during late Archaean-Early Proterozoic era. Most pronounced are the three major rotations: the first one (anticklockwise) during Late Archaean times (2700-2600 Ma ago) and the next ones (clockwise followed by anticklockwise) during Jatulian times (2400-2200 Ma and 2200-1900 Ma ago). These rotations seem to reflect overall tensional tectonics in the Fennoscandian Shield, which, at those times, was an integral part of a much larger global shield assembly. The fracturing of the crust about 2450 Ma ago, which resulted in the em-placement of the layered intrusions in Fennoscandia, was a global rather than a local event. Later, between 2200 and 1900 Ma ago, Fennoscandia underwent considerable latitudinal shifts. Preceding the Svecokarelian orogeny, these shifts may reflect the time when Fennoscandia was drifting as an independent plate before becoming rewelded to other shields (e.g. Laurentian Shield) and causing the Svecokarelian/Hudsonian orogenies 1900 Ma ago (Pesonen and Neuvonen 1981, Pesonen et al. 1989a). The Svecokarelian orogeny proper (1900—1750 Ma ago) is not a particularly strong kinematic event in the APWP or on the drift map although the orogeny was clearly preceded by strong kinematic events (Figs. 22 and 23).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We wish to thank Aulis Lammi, Ilmo Kukkonen, Jussi-Pekka Palmu and Seppo Lähde for their contributions to the project "Layered intrusion". The hysteresis properties were measured at the Technical Research Center of Finland with the help of Tor Meinander. Sincere thanks are due to Kirsti Blomster and Sisko Sulkanen for figure drafting and Hilkka Kumpunen for palaeomagnetic

measurements. Tuomo Alapieti, David Dunlop and Ilmo Kukkonen gave valuable comments on the manuscript. The English was corrected by Gillian Häkli. The project "Layered intrusions" was supported by the Academy of Finland (project 24/090).

REFERENCES

- Alapieti, T., 1982. The Koillismaa layered igneous complex, Finland — its structure, mineralogy and geochemistry, with emphasis on the distribution of chromium. Geol. Surv. Finland, Bull. 319. 116 p.
- Alapieti, T., Hugg, R. & Piirainen, T., 1979. Structure, mineralogy and chemistry of the Syöte section in the Early Proterozoic Koillismaa layered intrusion, northeastern Finland. Geol. Surv. Finland, Bull. 299. 43 p.
- Alapieti, T. & Lahtinen, J., 1986. Stratigraphy, Petrology and Platinum-group Element Mineralization of the Early Proterozoic Penikat Layered Intrusion, Northern Finland. Econ. Geol. 81, 1126—1136.
- Alarotu, H., Heinämäki, O., Kuisma. T, Wallenius, H., Ylisirniö, P. & Pesonen, L. J., 1986. Luonnollisen jäännösmagnetismin komponenttien määräminen Kirschvinkin menetelmällä. Report Q 29.1/86/2, Geophysics Department, Geological Survey of Finland. 41 p.
- Baer, A. J., 1981. Two orogenies in the Grenville Belt ? Nature 290, 129–131.
- Bailey, R. C. & Halls, H.C., 1984. Estimate of confidence in paleomagnetic directions derived from mixed remagnetization circle and direct observational data. J. Geophys. 54, 174—182.
- Burke, K., Dewey, J. & Kidd, W. S. F., 1976. Precambrian paleomagnetic results compatible with contemporary operation of the Wilson cycle. Tectonophysics 33, 287— 299.
- Bylund, G. & Pesonen, L. J., 1987. Paleomagnetism of Mafic Dykes of the Fennoscandian Shield. In: H. C. Halls and W. F. Fahrig (ed.), Mafic dyke swarms. Geol. Ass. Canada, Spec. Paper 34, 201—219.
- Day, R., Fuller, M. & Schmidt, V. A., 1977. Hysteresis properties of titanomagnetites: grainsize and compositional dependence. Phys. Earth Plan. Inter. 13, 260—267.
- Douglas, D. N., 1988. Paleomagnetics of Ringerike Old Sandstone and related rocks, southern Norway: implications for preCarboniferous separation of Baltica and British terranes. Tectonophysics 148, 11–27.
- Dunlop, D. J., 1979. On the use of Zijderweld vector diagrams in multicomponent paleomagnetic studies. Phys. Earth Planet. Inter. 16, 1—11.
- Dunlop, D. J., 1986. Hysteresis properties of magnetite and their dependence on particle size: A test of pseudo-single domain remanence models. J. Geophys. Res. 91, 9569— 9584.
- Elming, S.-Å., 1985. A palaeomagnetic study of Svecokarelian basic rocks from northern Sweden. Geol. Fören. Stockholm, Förh. 107, 17—35.
- Fisher, R., 1953. Dispersion on a sphere. Proc. Roy. Soc. London A 217, 295—305.
- Gaál, G., 1985. Nickel metallogeny related to tectonics. In H. Papunen and G. I. Gorbunov (ed.), Nickel-copper deposits of the Baltic Shield and Scandinavian Caledonides. Geol. Surv. Finland, Bull. 333, 143–155.
- Gaál, G., Berthelsen, A.Gorbatschev, R., Kesola, R., Lehtonen, M. I., Marker, M. & Raase, P., 1989. Structure and Composition of the Precambrian Crust along the POLAR Profile in the Northern Baltic Shield. Tectonophysics (in print).
- Halls, H. C., 1979. Separation of multicomponent NRM:

combined use of difference and resultant magnetization vectors. Earth Planet. Sci. Lett. 43, 303-308.

- Hjelt, S.-E., Lanne, E., Ruotsalainen, A. & Heiskanen, V., 1977. Regional interpretation of magnetic and gravimetric measurements based on combinations of dipping prisms and plates. Geol. Fören. Stockholm, Förh. 99, 216—225.
- Hoffman, K. A. & Day, R., 1978. Separation of multicomponent NRM: a general method. Earth Planet. Sci. Lett. 40, 433–438.
- Irving, E., Davidson, A. & McGlynn, J. C., 1984. Paleomagnetism of gabbros of the Early Proterozoic Blachford Lake Intrusives and the Easter Island Dyke, Great Slave Lake, NWT: Possible Evidence for the Earliest Continental Drift. Geophys. Surveys 7, 1—25.
- Kirschvink, J. L., 1980. The least-squares line and plane and the analysis of palaeomagnetic data. Geophys. J. R. astr. Soc. 62, 699—718.
- Korhonen, J., 1981. Major structures of the bedrock as revealed by aeromagnetic maps. In: K. Puustinen (ed.), Geological, geochemical and geophysical investigations in the Eastern part of the Baltic Shield. Papers issued to the 10th General Meeting of the Finnish-Soviet Joint Geological Working Group, held in Rovaniemi, 7th—11th September, 1981, 71—85.
- Kouvo, O. & Tilton, G. R., 1966. Mineral ages from the Finnish Precambrian. J. Geol. 74, 421–442.
- Kresten, P., Åhman, E. & Brunfelt, A. O., 1981. Alkaline ultramafic lamprophyres and associated carbonatite dykes from the Kalix area, northern Sweden. Geol. Rundschau. 70, 1215—1231.
- Lahtinen, J., 1985. PGE-bearing copper-nickel occurences in the marginal series of the Early Proterozoic Koillismaa layered intrusion. In H. Papunen and G. I. Gorbunov (ed.), Nickel- copper deposits of the Baltic Shield and Scandinavian Caledonides. Geol. Surv. Finland, Bull. 333, 161–178.
- Lammi, A., 1986. Varhaisproterotsooisten kerrosintruusioiden magneettisista ominaisuuksista. In L. J. Pesonen (ed.), TKK-V-GEO B16, Magneettiset kartat ja anomaliat 1986. (In Finnish).
- Lauerma, R., 1982. On the ages of some granitoid and schist complexes in northern Finland. Bull. Geol. Soc. Finland 54, 85—100.
- Lauerma, R., 1987. Sallan diabaasijuonet. The diabase dykes in Salla. In K. Aro and I. Laitakari (ed.), Suomen diabaasit ja muut mafiset juonikivilajit. Diabases and other mafic dyke rocks in Finland. Geol. Surv Finland, Rep. Invest. No. 76, 185—187. (Abstracts in English).
- Leino, M. A. H., 1979. Remanentin magnetoitumisen mittauslaitteisto ja muinaisen magneettisen voimakkuuden määrityksistä. Unpublished M.Sc thesis. Department of Physics, University of Helsinki, Finland. 77 p. (In Finnish).
- Mertanen, S., Pesonen, L.J., Huhma, H., Lähde, S., Lammi, A. & Leino, M.A.H., 1987. Paleomagnetic and rock magnetic studies on the Early Proterozoic layered intrusions, Northern Finland. Report Q 29.1/87/4, Geophysics Department, Geological Survey of Finland. 132 p.
- Miller, J. D. & Kent, D. V., 1986. Paleomagnetism of the upper Devonian Catskill formation from the southern limb of the Pennsylvania salient: possible evidence of oroclinal rotation. Geophys. Res. Lett. 13, 1173—1176.

- Morgan, G. E. 1976. Palaeomagnetism of a slowly cooled plutonic terrain in western Greenland. Nature 259, 382— 385.
- Morgan, G. E. & Briden, J. C., 1981. Aspects of Precambrian palaeomagnetism, with new data from the Limpopo mobile belt and Kaapvaal craton in southern Africa. Phys. Earth Planet. Inter. 24, 142—168.
- Mutanen, T., 1979. Vanadiini- ja kromi-platinamalmitutkimukset Koitelaisvosien alueella Sodankylässä vuosina 1973–1978. Geol. Surv. Finland, Rep. M19/3741–79/1/ 10. 130 p.
- Mutanen, T., 1980. Koitelaisen kromimalmi. Geologi 32, 7, p. 90.
- Neuvonen, K. J., 1975. Magnetic orientation of the Jatulian magmatism in eastern Finland — A preliminary note. Bull. Geol. Soc. Finland 47, 100—112.
- Neuvonen, K. J., Korsman, K., Kouvo, O. & Paavola, J., 1981. Paleomagnetism and age relations of the rocks in the main sulphide ore belt in central Finland. Bull. Geol. Soc. Finland 53—2, 109—133.
- Pesonen, J. & Meinander, T., 1985. Internal Research Report KOJ-54. Instrumental Laboratory, Technical Research Centre of Finland.
- Pesonen, L. J., 1970. Kuusamon Näränkävaaran ultraemäksisten kivien fysikaalisten ominaisuuksien tutkimisesta. Unpublished M.Sc thesis. Department of Mining and Metallurgy, Helsinki University of Technology, Finland.
- Pesonen, L.J. & Stigzelius, E.A., 1972. On petrophysical and paleomagnetic investigations of the gabbros of the Pohjanmaa region, Middle-West Finland. Geol. Surv. Finland, Bull. 260. p.
- Pesonen, L.J. & Neuvonen, K.J., 1981. Paleomagnetism of the Baltic Shield — implications for Precambrian tectonics. In A. Kröner (ed.), Precambrian Plate Tectonics, Amsterdam, Elsevier, 623—648.
- Pesonen, L.J., Leino, M.A.H. & Lammi, A., 1983. Paleomagnetism of the Baltic Shield — a state of art review. In S. E. Hjelt (ed.), The developement of the deep geoelectric model of the Baltic Shield, Part 2. Proceedings of the 1st project symposium, Oulu, 15.—18.1983. Department of Geophysics, University of Oulu, Report No. 8.
- Pesonen, L. J., Suominen, V. O. & Noras, P., 1985. Paleomagnetism of the Subjotnian Diabase Dyke Swarm of the Åland archipelago, SW-Finland. In H. C. Halls (ed.), International Conference of Mafic Dyke Swarms. Abstracts. University of Toronto, Erindale Campus, Canada, 129– 130.
- Pesonen, L.J., Torsvik, T.H., Elming, S.-Å. & Bylund, G., 1989a. Crustal evolution of Fennoscandia — Paleomagnetic constraints. Tectonophysics. (In print).
- Pesonen, L. J., Torsvik, T. H., Elming, S.-Å., Bylund, G. & Mertanen, S., 1989b. Paleomagnetic directions and poles from Fennoscandia. Second Issue: Archaean to Tertiary. (Submitted to Geol. Fören. Stockholm Förhand.)
- Piila, J., Pylkkänen, T., Särkkä, R. & Pesonen, L. J., 1986. Bailey-Halls'in isoympyrämenetelmä remanenssikomponenttien erotteluun. Report Q 29.1/86/1, Geophysics Department. Geological Survey of Finland. 42 p.

- Piirainen, T., Hugg, R., Isohanni, M. & Juopperi, A., 1974. On the geotectonics and ore forming processes in the basic intrusive belts of Kemi-Suhanko and Syöte-Näränkävaara, northern Finland. Bull. Geol. Soc. Finland 46, 93—104.
- Piirainen, T., Alapieti, T., Hugg, R. & Kerkkonen, O., 1977. The marginal border group of the Porttivaara layered intrusion and related sulphide mineralizations. Bull. Geol. Soc. Finland 49 (2), 125—142.
- Piirainen, T., Hugg, R., Aario, R., Forsström, L. Ruotsalainen, A. & Koivumaa, S., 1978. Koillismaan malmikriittisten alueiden tutkimusprojektin loppuraportti 1976. English summary: The report of the Koillismaa Research Project. Geol. Surv. Finland Rep. Invest. No. 18. 51 p.
- Piper, J. D. A., 1980. Paleomagnetic study of the Swedish Rapakivi suite: Proterozoic tectonics of the Baltic Shield. Earth Planet. Sci. Lett. 46, 443—461.
- Piper, J. D. A., 1982. The Precambrian paleomagnetic record: the case for the Proterozoic Supercontinent. Earth Plan. Sci. Lett. 59, 61—89.
- Piper, J. D. A., 1987. Paleomagnetism and the continental crust. Open University Press, Milton Keynes, England. 434 p.
- Rekola, T. 1986. Results of electrial and electromagnetic measurements in Vaaralampi-Niittylampi, Ranua. In L. Eskola and A. Fokin (ed.), Electrial prospecting for ore deposits in the Baltic Shield. Part 1: Galvanic methods. Geol. Surv. Finland, Rep. Invest. No. 73, 73—84.
- Ruotsalainen, A., 1977. Koillismaan intruusioiden rakenteen geofysikaalisesta tulkinnasta. Unpublished M.Sc thesis. Department of Geophysics, University of Oulu, Finland. 64 p.
- Saviaro, K., 1976. Geofysikaalisia tutkimuksia Koillismaan gabrointruusioiden alueella. Unpublished licentiate thesis. Department of Geophysics, University of Oulu, Finland. 72 p.
- Schwarz, E. J., Coleman, L. C. & Cattroll, H. M., 1979. Paleomagnetic results from the Skaergaard intrusion, East Greenland. Earth Planet. Sci. Lett. 42, 437–443.
- Simonen, A., 1980. The Precambrian in Finland. Bull. Geol. Surv. Finland 304. 58 p.
- Söderholm, K. & Inkinen, O., 1982. The Tornio layered intrusion — a recently discovered intrusion with chromitite horizons in Northern Finland. Bull. Geol. Soc. Finland 54, 1—2, 15—24.
- Thompson, R. & Oldfield, F., 1986. Environmental Magmatism.Allen and Unwin (Publ.) Ltd. London, p. 32.
- Vuorelainen, Y., Häkli, T.A., Hänninen, E., Reino, J. & Törnroos, R., 1982. Isomertieite and Other Platinum-Group Minerals from the Konttijärvi Layered Mafic Intrusion, Northern Finland. Econ. Geol. 77, 1511–1518.
- Zijderweld, J. D. A., 1967. A. C. demagnetization of rocks: analysis of results. In D. W. Collinson, K. M. Creer and S. K. Runcorn (ed.), Methods in Paleomagnetism. Amsterdam, Elsevier, 254—286.
- Zonenshein, L.P., Kuzmin, M.I. & Kononov, M.V., 1985. Absolute reconstructions of the Paleozoic oceans. Earth Planet. Sci Lett. 74, 103—116.

Appendix

Table A1. U-Pb analytical data on zircons from the gabbro pegmatoid of the Siikakämä intrusion, Suhanko-Kuohunki area (analysed in 1982).

Sample, fraction(1 d=density	Concentrations(2 (ppm)		Measured	Atomic r	Pb/Pb(4 age			
Ø=size in µm HF=preleached in HF	U	Pb	206Pb/ 204Pb	206РЬ/ 238U	207Pb/ 235U	207Pb/ 206Pb	206Pb/ 208Pb	(Ma)
A454A, d>4.6	293	118	3409	0.3324	5.836	0.1273	3.7	2061
A454B, d>4.6, HF	272	101	6430	0.3313	5.627	0.1232	5.7	2003
A454C, 4.2 <d<4.6< td=""><td>531</td><td>281</td><td>2488</td><td>0.3620</td><td>6.978</td><td>0.1398</td><td>1.9</td><td>2224</td></d<4.6<>	531	281	2488	0.3620	6.978	0.1398	1.9	2224
A454D, 4.0 <d<4.2, ø="">160</d<4.2,>	704	424	1263	0.3695	7.236	0.1420	1.4	2252
A454E, 3.8 <d<4.0, ø="">160 A454F, 3.8<d<4.0,< td=""><td>1160</td><td>535</td><td>801</td><td>0.2965</td><td>5.410</td><td>0.1324</td><td>1.7</td><td>2129</td></d<4.0,<></d<4.0,>	1160	535	801	0.2965	5.410	0.1324	1.7	2129
70 <Ø<160	1089	488	775	0.2913	5.296	0.1318	1.7	2122
A860A, d>4.2	317	138	1006	0.3395	6.008	0.1283	3.3	2075

(1, Sample locality: Map sheet 361304. Grid coordinates 7347.83/477.15. The samples were collected by J. Reino and J. Lahtinen, Outokumpu Oy.

(2, Corrected for analytical blank (U blank 0.5 ng, Pb blank 1 ng, sample weight 5-15 mg).

(3, Corrected for blank and common lead: 206Pb/204Pb=14.9, 207Pb/204Pb=15.1, 208Pb/204Pb=34.5.

(4, Average error 0.2%.

Table A2. Hysteresis properties of the layered intrusions

No.	specimen	intrusion	rock type	a.f.	Js	Jsr	Hc	Hcr	Jsr/Js	Hcr/Hc	class
1.	SY1-1B	Syöte	norite	hard & stable	3.2	0.26	9.6	42	0.08	4.36	PSD-MD
2.	SV7-2A	Syöte	gabbro	semihard	0.28	0.07	18.0	60	0.25	3.33	PSD
3.	AP12-1A	Ala-Penikat	gabbro	semihard	0.43	0.09	20.0	58	0.21	2.90	PSD
4.	ST4-2B	Syöte	gabbro	soft & unstable	14.1	0.95	6.4	32	0.07	4.92	MD
5.	ST1-1B	Syöte	magnetite gabbro	soft & stable	69.9	3.40	2.7	8	0.05	3.11	MD
6.	ST6-1B	Syöte	magnetite gabbro	soft & unstable	27.0	1.19	4.4	18	0.04	3.98	MD
7.	KA16-1C	Kaukua	gabbro	hard & stable	0.14	0.057	22.5	51	0.40	2.27	SD-PSD
8.	KA20-1A	Kaukua	gabbro	soft & stable	0.12	0.06	20.5	37	0.51	1.80	SD-PSD
9.	KA24-1C	Kaukua	gabbro	hard & stable	0.11	0.045	20.5	43	0.42	2.10	SDPSD
10.	SY2-1C	Syöte	norite	hard & stable	0.05	0.028	28.0	70	0.53	2.50	SD-PSD
11.	SY5-2A	Syöte	diabase	soft & unstable	9.21	0.28	3.2	19	0.03	6.06	MD
12.	SY2-1A	Syöte	norite	hard & stable	0.09	0.048	28.0	70	0.53	2.50	SD-PSD
13.	ST9-2A	Syöte	magnetite gabbro	soft & stable	14.9	0.567	3.9	20	0.04	5.03	MD
14.	NA5-1B	Näränkävaara	pyroxenite	hard & stable	0.013	0.005	6.0	_	0.38		SD-PSD
15.	NA26-1A	Näränkävaara	pyroxenite	hard & stable	0.104	0.032	14.0	28	0.31	1.96	SD-PSD

a.f. = general behaviour of the specimens during alternating field treatment (a.f.)

Js = saturation magnetization (mT)

Jsr = saturation remanence (mT)

Hc = coercive force (mT)

Hcr = coercivity of remanence (mT)

class = "rock magnetic" grain-size classification (modified after Day *et al.* 1977), where SD = single-domain, PSD = pseudosingle-domain, MD = multi-domain.

App. contd.

Table A3. Remanence component A of the Näränkävaara intrusion (Lat = 65.7°N, Lon = 29.5°E).

NIa	Site	NI	D	I	~05	k
INO.	Sile	IN	D	1	0.95	K
1.	NA1—3,					
	12-17	4	344	61	13	49
2.	NA7-9	2	339	40		
4.	NM1-5	2	329	34		
5.	NN1-5	3	342	41	9	213
7.	NH4-8	1	335	42		
8.	NA35-37	2	358	41	_	
11.	NA18-23	5	356	46	5	286
12.	NA43-47	2	344	38		
13.	NA38-42	4	4	37	6	267
16.	NA29—34	2	4	41		
Mea	in, before					
tilt o	correction	10/27	347	43	7	46
Mea	in, after					
tilt o	correction	10/27	355	26	10	24
Pole	position: L	at=48.3°N	Lon=2	26.3°E	dp=5.5°	dm=8.9°

Symbols: No. = site number. For the Näränkävaara and the Syöte intrusions the site numbers are in approximate stratigraphic order from bottom (site 1) to top (site 16). Site = site name (see Figs. 2.—6). N = number of samples per site from which the component has been isolated, mean direction is the mean of sites, D = declination, I = inclination. α 95 = radius of 95 % confidence circle about the mean direction, k = the Fisher precision parameter (Fisher 1953) (α 95 and k are calculated only when N>3). Pole position calculated from the mean remanence direction without tilt corrections. dp, dm = semi-axes of 95 % confidence oval about the pole.

Table A4. Remanence component A of the Syöte intrusion (Lat = 65.6° N, Lon = 27.7° E).

No.	Site	Ν	D	Ι	α95	k
1.	VK1-3	1	350	42	_	
2.	SS1-11	3	341	56	16	58
3.	PS10-15	5 1	325	50		
4.	PS1-9	2	333	51		
6.	SY1-22	10	343	46	6	75
7.	SM1-10	5	347	56	9	79
8.	SL1-9	6	346	40	11	41
10.	SV6-8	2	332	55		
11.	SK1-7	2	348	51		
14.	ST1-5	1	353	35		
15.	ST6—9	2	338	38		
Mea	in, before					
tilt c	correction	11/35	342	48	5	73
Mea	n, after					
tilt c	correction	11/35	339	19	7	50
Pole	position:	Lat=51.3°N	Lon	=233°6E	dp=4.5°	dm=7.0°

Symbols as in Table A3.

Table A5. Remanence component A of the Lipeävaara intrusion (Lat = 65.9°N, Lon = 28.1°E).

No.	Site	N	D	Ι	α95	k
1.	LI4—5,					
	20-22	4	352	37	6	244
2.	LI1-3	3	347	34	9	182
3.	LI6-7	2	358	32		
4.	LI8-12	5	348	35	7	118
5.	LI13—19	7	350	36	4	190
Mea tilt o	an, before correction	5/21	351	35	4	396
Mea tilt o	an, after correction	5/21	325	44	9	81
Pole	e position:	Lat=42.8°N	Lon=	219.8°E	dp=2.5°	dm=4.4°

Symbols as in Table A3.

Table A6. Remanence component A of the Kaukua intrusion (Lat = 65.9° N, Lon = 28.2° E).

No.	Site	N	D	I	α95	k
1.	KA10-1	2 3	351	37	7	283
2.	KA13-2	1 9	346	34	3	401
3.	KA22-2	6 5	350	33	5	206
Mea tilt o	n, before correction	3/17	349	35	4	827
Mea tilt o	nn, after correction	3/17	328	56	4	805
Pole	position:	Lat=42.5°N	Lon=2	22.4°E	dp=2.3°	dm=4.9°
TOR	position.	Lat 42.5 14	LOII-2	22.7 L	up=2.5	um

Symbols as in Table A3.

Table A7. Remanence component A of the Murtolampi intrusion (Lat = 66.0°N, Lon = 28.2°E).

No	Site	Ν	D	Ι	α95	k
1.	MU1-5	2	350	33	_	
2.	MU6-8	3	349	35	7	296
Me No	an tilt correcti	2/5 on	349	34	—	_
Pol	e position:	Lat=42.2	N Lon=2	222.0°E	dp= —	dm=

App. contd.

Table A8.	Remanence	component	A of the	Koitelainen	intrusion
(Lat = 67.	8°N, Lon =	27.1°E).			

Table A11. Remanence component B of the Syöte intrusion (La	t
$= 65.6^{\circ}$ N, Lon $= 27.7^{\circ}$ E).	

No.	Site	Ν	D	Ι	α95	k
1.	KT1-12					
	KO6	6	341	41	6	121
2.	KS1-5	5	345	43	7	118
3.	KO1-3	3	331	39	6	391
Mea tilt c	n, before correction	3/14	339	41	9	186
Mea tilt c	in, after correction	3/14	353	54	20	39
Pole	position:	Lat=43.9°N	Lon=2	34.6°E	dp=6.7° dn	n=11.0°

Symbols as in Table A3.

Table A9. Remanence component A' of the Koitelainen intrusion (Lat = 67.8° N, Lon = 27.1° E).

No.	Site	Ν	D	Ι	α95	k
1.	KT1-12,					
	KO6	3	308	20	12	112
2.	KS1-5	2	307	32		
3.	KO1-3	3	315	30	3	1684
Mea tilt c	n, before	3/8	310	28	12	115
Mea tilt c	n, after correction	3/8	312	45	15	68
Pole	position:	Lat=28.0°N	Lon=2	264.2°E	dp=6.9° dr	m=12.6°

Symbols as in Table A3.

Table A10. Remanence component B of the Näränkävaara intrusion (Lat = 65.7° N, Lon = 29.5° E).

No.	Site	Ν	D	Ι	α95	k
1.	NA1-3,					
	12-17	3	21	48	14	84
2.	NA7-9*	1	13	14	_	
8.	NA35-37	3	28	39	29	19
10.	NA24-28	2	10	32		
11.	NA18-23	2	14	48	_	
13.	NA38-42	4	32	39	18	28
Mea tilt o	an, before correction	5/14	20	37	12	31
Mea tilt o	an, after correction	5/14	23	35	15	28
* no	ot included in	mean dir	ection.			

Pole position: Lat=43.3°N Lon=184.2°E dp=8.4° dm=14.2°

Symbols as in Table A3.

No.	Site	Ν	D	Ι	α95	k
1.	VK1-3	1	42	35	_	
2.	SS1-11	5	25	49	15	27
3.	PS10-15	1	16	51	_	
4.	PS1-9	4	35	32	29	11
5.	RO1-10	1	15	44		
6.	SY1-22	8	33	43	12	24
7.	SM1-10	4	31	35	11	68
9.	SV1-5	5	40	44	18	20
11.	SK1-7	1	37	30		
13.	PV1-5*	1	17	18		
14.	ST1-5	1	34	44		
15.	ST6-9	1	22	56	—	
Mea	in, before					
tilt d	correction	11/32	31	42	6	58
Mea	in, after				-	
tilt o	correction	11/32	16	23	7	41
* nc	ot included in	mean dire	ection.			

Pole position: Lat=44.5°N Lon=167.2°E dp=4.6° dm=7.4°

Symbols as in Table A3.

Table A12. Remanence component B of the Lipeävaara intrusion (Lat = 65.9° N, Lon = 28.1° E).

N	D	Ι	α95	k
3	26	48	12	105
3	14	23	11	122
5	16	25	14	30
3/11	18	32	23	31
3/11	356	59	16	61
	N 3 3 5 3/11 3/11	N D 3 26 3 14 5 16 3/11 18 3/11 356	N D I 3 26 48 3 14 23 5 16 25 3/11 18 32 3/11 356 59	N D I α95 3 26 48 12 3 14 23 11 5 16 25 14 3/11 18 32 23 3/11 356 59 16

Pole position: Lat=40.1°N Lon=186.0°E dp=14.3° dm=25.4°

Symbols as in Table A3.

Table A13. Remanence component B of the Kaukua intrusion (Lat = 65.9° N, Lon = 28.2° E).

No.	Site	Ν	D	Ι	α95	k
1.	KA10-12	2 2	34	26	_	
2.	KA13-21	5	25	29	17	21
3.	KA22-26	5 3	34	45	19	44
Mea tilt c	n, before correction	3/10	31	33	17	52
Mea tilt c	in, after correction	3/10	40	62	17	53
Pole	e position:	3/10 Lat=38.1°N	40 Lon=10	69.8°E dr	0=11.1° dm	=19.6

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 347

App. contd.

Table A14. Remanence component D of the Näränkävaara intrusion (Lat = 65.7° N, Lon = 29.5° E).

No. Site	Ν	D	Ι	α95	k
1. NA1—3,					
12-17	2	133	64		
2. NA7-9	1	132	70		
4. NM1-5	1	166	29		
5. NN1-5	3	112	48	29	19
11. NA18-23	2	112	26		
12. NA43-47	4	90	58	20	22
15. NH1—3	1	96	70		_
Mean, before tilt correction	7/14	123	55	19	11
Mean, after tilt correction	7/14	93	47	21	12
Pole position: I	_at=20.5°]	N Lon=7	6.4°E dj	o=19.3° dn	n=27.1°

Table A16. Remanence component D of the Lipeävaara intrusion (Lat = 65.9° N, Lon = 28.1° E).

No.	Site	N	D	Ι	α95	k
1.	LI4—5,					
	20-22	3	80	38	32	16
3.	LI6-7	1	56	52		
4.	LI8-12	2	69	49	_	_
Mea tilt c	n, before correction	3/6	69	47	17	51
Mea tilt c	n, after	3/6	106	78	32	16

Symbols as in Table A3.

Symbols as in Table A3.

Table A15. Remanence component D of the Syöte intrusion (Lat = 65.6° N, Lon = 27.7° E).

No.	Site	Ν	D	Ι	α95	k
Nor	mal polari	ty				
2.	SS1-11	3	113	45	34	14
3.	PS10-1.	5 3	80	67	20	40
5.	RO1-10) 1	113	53		
6.	SY1-22	15	99	63	7	36
7.	SM1-10) 9	111	21	7	53
8.	SL1-9	1	74	57		_
9.	SV1-5	5	125	47	9	74
10.	SV6-8	1	115	35		
14.	ST1-5	1	113	18		
15.	ST6-9	1	157	26		
Reve	ersed pola	rity				
4.	PS1-9	4	59	79	14	45
12.	SR1-5	1	121	-70		_
13.	PV1-5	1	83	80		
Mea	an (N), bef	ore				
tilt o	correction	10/40	114	45	15	12
Mea	an (N), afte	er	-			
tilt o	correction	10/40	82	61	14	13
Mea	an (R), bef	ore				
tilt (correction	3/6	96	78	14	75
Mea	an (R), afte	er				
tilt o	correction	3/6	136	-49	24	27
Pole	e position					
a	N):	Lat=15.0°N	Lon=	85.7°E	dp=11.6° dr	m=18.3°
Pole	e position					
đ	R):	Lat=58.5°N	Lon=	338.8°E	dp=25.2° dr	n=26.9

Symbols as in Table A3.

Table A17. Remanence component D of the Kaukua intrusion (Lat = 65.9° N, Lon = 28.2° E).

No.	Site	Ν	D	I	α95	k
2.	KA13-21	2	119	21		
3.	KA22-26	1	134	28	—	
Mean, before tilt correction		2/3	127	25	_	_
Me: tilt	an, after correction	2/3	136	13	_	_
Pol	e position:	Lat=2.0°S	Lon=7	9.7°E dp	=19.4° dm	=36.2°

Symbols as in Table A3.

Table A18. Remanence component D of the Murtolampi intrusion (Lat = 66.0° N, Lon = 28.2° E).

No.	Site	Ν	D	Ι	α95	k
1.	MU1-5	1	144	44	_	_
2.	MU6-8	1	113	68		
Mean		2/2	133	56	_	_
No	tilt correcti	on				
Pol	e position:	Lat=19.0	°N Lon=6	56.2°E	dp=	dm=

App. contd.

Table A19. Remanence component E of the Näränkävaara intrusion (Lat = 65.7° N, Lon = 29.5° E)

Table A20. Remanence component E of the Syöte intrusion (Lat = 65.6° N, Lon = 27.7° E).

No. Site		N	D	Ι	α95	k	No.	Site	Ν	D	Ι	α95	k
Normal pola	rity						Norm	nal polarity					
1. NA1-	3,						2.	SS1-11	4	273	49	41	6
12-17		2	265	59			4.	PS1-9	1	216	54		
2. NA7-	9	1	240	42			5.	RO1-10	1	277	56		
3. NL1-	3	1	293	44			6.	SY1-22	9	280	33	34	3
7. NH4-	8	1	239	43			7.	SM1-10	5	264	62	27	9
11. NA18-	-23	1	208	85			8.	SL1-9	3	225	47	44	9
13. NA38-	-42	1	232	70			9.	SV1-5	4	245	68	18	15
14. NA6		1	282	70		_	10.	SV6-8	2	258	47		
Reversed po	larity						11.	SK1-7	2	274	68	_	_
6 NA4	5	1	106	_38		_	14.	STI-5	1	252	39		
13 NA38	12	1	51				15.	ST6-9*	1	224	9		
14 NA6	42	1	82	28			Reve	rsed polarity					
16 NA29_	_34	1	97	24			2	\$\$1_11*	1	122	3		
10. 11125	51		1	21			4	PS1_0*	3	05	0	20	30
Mean (N), b	efore						5	RO1-10	1	59	_48	20	57
tilt correctio	n	7/8	257	61	16	15	6	SV1-22	3	116	-37	39	11
Mean (N), a	fter						9	SV1_5	3	30	22	16	62
tilt correctio	n	7/8	305	68	19	11	2.	511-5	5	57	22	10	02
Moon (D) h	afora						Mean	n (N), before					
tilt apprentio	elore	4/4	20	10	20	11	tilt c	orrection	10/32	257	54	11	21
the confectio		4/4	09	-40	29	11	Mean	n (N), after					
Mean (R), at	tter			16	70		tilt c	orrection	10/32	287	41	11	21
tilt correctio	n	4/4	110	-46	12	4	Man	(P) before					
Mean (COM	(B.),						tilt	orrection	3/7	60	40	58	6
before tilt							the c	Direction	5/ 1	09	40	50	0
correction		9/10	264	52	15	13	Mean	n (R), after	2.7	01	20	50	7
Mean (CON	(B)						tilt c	orrection	3/1	91		52	/
after tilt	,						Mean	n (COMB.),					
correction		9/10	295	58	21	7	befor	re tilt					
concetton		7/10	275	50			corre	ection	10/35	253	52	11	20
Pole position	n						Mea	n (COMB.).					
(N):	Lat	=33.1°N	Lon=3	330.6°E dr	=19.1° dm	=24.8°	after	tilt					
Pole position	1						COTTE	ection	10/35	283	41	11	21
(R):	Lat	t=20.5°N	Lon=	310.4°E dr	=21.2° dm	=35.1°							
Pole position	n						* no	t included in	mean dir	rection.			
(C):	Lat	t=27.1°N	Lon=	319.3°E dr	=14.0° dm	=21.0°	D.I.						
(0).							Pole	position:	26.00		224 505 1	10 (0 1	15 10
Symbols as	in Tał	ole A3.					()	() La	$at = 26.2^{\circ}$	N Lon=	=324.5°E dp	=10.6° dm	=15.1*
							Pole	position:	12 (0	NL	226 195 1	-12 50 1	-70.20
							(R	Li Li	$at = 12.6^{\circ}$	IN LOn=	-326.1-Edp	=42.5° dm	= /0.3°
							Pole	position:		NI I	226 705 1	-10.09.1	-15.00
							((.) La	$at = 22.9^{\circ}$	N Lon=	526.7°Edp	=10.0° dm	=15.0°

App. contd.

Table A21. Remanence component E of the Lipeävaara intrusion (Lat = 65.9° N, Lon = 28.1° E).

Table A22	2. Remanence	component	E of	the	Kaukua	intrusion
Lat = 65.	$9^{\circ}N$, Lon = 28	3.2°E).				

No.	Site	Ν	D	Ι	α95	k
Nor	mal polari	ty				
1.	LI4-5,					
	20-22	3	194	43	32	16
2.	LI1-3	3	217	49	61	5
3.	LI6-7	1	290	50		
4.	LI8—12	2	256	20		
5.	LI13—19	3	283	47	81	3
Reve	ersed polar	rity				
1.	LI4-5,					
	20-22	1	43	-42	_	
2.	LI1-3	1	47	-39		
Mea	n (N), befo	ore				
tilt c	correction	5/12	248	48	31	7
Mea	n (N), afte	r				
tilt c	correction	5/12	244	15	34	6
Mea	n (R), befo	ore				
tilt c	orrection	2/2	45	-41		
Mea	n (R), afte	r				
tilt c	orrection	2/2	45	-16	_	
Mea	n (COMB	.).				
befo	re tilt					
corre	ection	5/12	251	45	28	9
Mea	n (COMB.),				
after	tilt	5.5.				
corre	ection	5/12	246	14	29	8
Pole	position					
(N	D.	Lat=18.0°	V Lon=	220 3°E do	-26.6° dm	-11 09
Pole	position	Lat 10.0 1	· Lon	529.5 Eup	-20.0 um	-41.0
(R	:	Lat= $5.4^{\circ}N$	Lon=3	847.4°E.dn	= dm=	
Pole	position			Line D up	un	
(C	:):	Lat=16.8°N	N Lon=	326.0°E dp	=22.0° dm=	=35.0°

NO.	Site	N	D	1	α95	k
Nor	mal polarity					
2.	KA13-21	5	226	71	22	13
3.	KA22-26	2	233	60		/
Reve	ersed polarit	У				
1.	KA10-12	1	114	-22		
2.	KA13-21	1	140		_	_
3.	KA22-26	1	74	51		
Mea	n (N), before	e				
tilt c	correction	2/7	230	66	_	
Mea	in (N), after					
tilt c	correction	2/7	215	38		
Mea	n (R), before	e				
tilt c	correction	3/3	109	-46	46	8
Mea	n (R), after					
tilt o	correction	3/3	83		46	8
Mea	n (COMB.)					
befo	re tilt					
corr	ection	3/8	279	52	49	7
Mea	n (COMB.)					
after	tilt					
COIT	ection	3/8	251	38	49	7
Pole	position:					
C	D I	$at=30.3^{\circ}$	N Lon=	351.7°E.dn	=33.0° dm	=41.6°
Pole	position:		LUII-	551.7 Eup	-33,9 um	-+1.0
(1	T T			202 (05 1		

 (R)
 Lat=32.4°N
 Lon=292.6°E dp=37.4°
 dm=58.8°

 Pole position:
 (C)
 Lat=33.1°N
 Lon=305.0°E dp=46.0°
 dm=67.0°

Symbols as in Table A3.

str/dip31

305/15

270/15

200/15

130/15

89/15

App. contd.

Table A23. Remanence component E of the Koitelainen intrusion $(Lat = 67.8^{\circ}N, Lon = 27.1^{\circ}E).$

Table A25. Rotation angles and the strike/dip data used in tectonic tests.

No.	Site	Ν	D	Ι	α95	k	intrusion	Δ	unrotated	rota	ted
Nor	mal polarity								str/dip ¹⁾	str/dip2)	str/dip3
1.	KT1—12,	1	202	60			I. Rotation	is accord	ing to (a)		
3.	KO1-3	1	338	63			N	-35	305/15	270/15	305/15
		1	550	05			S	+25	245/15	270/15	270/15
Reve	ersed polarit	У					L	+55	145/15	200/15	200/15
1.	KT1-12,						K	-20	110/15	130/15	130/15
	KO6	1	98	68			M	+10	0/0	0/10	0/0
2.	KS1-5	1	83	-43			Т	+32	57/15	89/15	89/15
3.	KO1—3	1	156	66	—	_	II. Rotation	ing to $^{(b)}$			
Mea	in (N), before	e					N	+19	305/15	324/15	305/15
tilt c	correction	2/2	313	68			S	+11	245/15	256/15	256/15
Mea	n (R), after						L	+ 9	145/15	78/15	78/15
tilt c	correction	2/2	9	86			K	+17	110/15	127/15	127/15
	(T) 1 (00			M	+10	0/0	0/0	0/0
tilt c	n (R), before correction	3/3	105	-63	36	13	Т	—13	57/15	44/15	44/15
Mea	n (R), after				00	10	for intr	isions see	Table 1		
tilt c	correction	3/3	79	-79	32	16	A rotation	is (in dea	rees) used to ac	commodate the	rotational
Mea	n (COMB.),				52	10	effect d	ue to pos	t-emplacement f	aulting (see (a),	(b) below
befo	re tilt						- rotat	ion clock	wise + anticloc	wise	rtical axis.
corre	ection	3/3	286	63	37	12	1) original	strike/di	n data on igneou	s lavering when	e 15º dine
Mea	n (COMB.),						(correst	onding to	about 50 % unf	olding) assumed	except for
after	· tilt						Murtola	mpi (M)	(see text)	olumg) assumed	слеерсто
COTT	ection	3/3	241	85	42	10	2) Näränki	ävaara (N) assumed to have	ve been rotated	
							3) Näränkä	ävaara no	t rotated.	e ocen rotatea.	
Pole	position	(2.10	NT T	204 (05 1	1		(a) reference	ce directio	on for all bodies	is E-W.	
Dala	N): L	Lat=62.4*	IN LON=	284.6°E dp	= — dm	=	^(b) reference	ce directio	n tight to each boo	ly's own rotations	according
Pole	position	at-15 50	N Lon-	204 000 1-	-11 20 1	56 69	to Korh	onen's (1	981) hypothetica	l dextral fault.	
Pole	position	Jai - 43.3	IN LON=	504.0°E up	-44.5° dm	=30.0					
1010		$at = 46.3^{\circ}$	N Lon=	304 0°E de	$= 16.0^{\circ} dm$	=58 0°					
(0	-). L	Jai - 40.5	IN LOII-	504.0 E up	-40.0 din	-30.0					

Symbols as in Table A3.

Table A24. Baked contact tests

		Component									
Area	Rock type	А	В	D	E	Arch (G, P					
		D,I	D,I	D,I	D,I	D,I					
Kaukua	layered intrusion	351,37	34,26	119,21	279,52	_					
Soilu	unbaked Archaean granitic gneiss	345,37		_		261,8					
Ala—Penikat (2 km)	baked Archaean granitic gneiss		—	106,45	_	145,8					
Sompujärvi (2 km)	baked Archaean granitic gneiss	323,47	24,50	112,58	_	143,7					
Sompujärvi (contact)	baked Archaean granitic gneiss	—	—	—	247,20						

For locations see Fig. 1 and Table 3. For other explanations see text.

App. contd.

Table A26. Tectonic tests. Original order of the tectonic processes: rotation followed by tilting. In tectonic corrections these processes were reversed (i.e. tilt correction was done first).

			C)		a.t			a.r			0			a.t			a.r.	
С	Ν	D	Ι	k	D	Ι	k	D	Ι	k	D	Ι	k	D	Ι	k	D	Ι	k
						I	ROTA	ATIONS	ACC	CORDI	NG TO (a	.)							
					Näränkä	vaar	a rota	ted					Nä	ränkäva	ara i	not rot	ated		
A	6	346	38	119	345	39	97	349	42	13	346	38	119	345	39	97	355	41	17
в	4	25	36	125	22	37	37	27	41	7	25	36	125	22	37	37	37	38	15
D	5	114	48	15	113	51	13	115	52	11	114	48	15	113	51	13	121	50	18
Е	5	265	54	53	263	52	22	277	54	12	265	54	53	263	52	52	283	54	14
						I	I ROT	ATIONS	S AC	CORDI	NG TO (b)							
					Näränkä	vaar	a rota	ted					Nä	ränkäva	ara i	not rot	ated		
A	6	346	38	119	346	38	94	354	40	38	346	38	119	346	38	94	351	39	57
В	4	25	36	125	22	37	37	36	37	29	25	36	125	22	37	37	30	37	27
D	5	114	48	15	113	51	13	127	51	12	114	48	15	113	51	13	123	52	11
E	5	265	54	53	267	51	25	278	51	22	265	54	53	267	51	25	277	50	26

C remanence component (see text)

N number of intrusions

O original (in-situ) declination (D) and inclination (I) of remanent magnetization: k = Fisher precision parameter

a.t. after tilt-correction

a.r. after tilt and rotation corrections

I Rotations caused by a large dextral strike-slip post-emplacement fault passing west of the Koitelainen body (Fig. 1), "separating" the intrusions from their original E-W position (see text)

II Rotations assumed to be due to a large dextral strike-slip fault passing east of the Koitelainen body (described by Korhonen, 1981: see text)

Left: Näränkävaara rotated, right: Näränkävaara not rotated For rotation and tilt angles see Table A25

Tätä julkaisua myy

GEOLOGIAN TUTKIMUSKESKUS (GTK) Julkaisumyynti 02150 Espoo 202 90-46931 Teleksi: 123 185 geolo sf Telekopio: 90-462 205

GTK, Väli-Suomen aluetoimisto Kirjasto PL 1237 70101 Kuopio 20 971-205 111 Telekopio: 971-205 215

GTK, Pohjois-Suomen aluetoimisto Kirjasto PL 77 96101 Rovaniemi 20 960-297 219 Teleksi: 37 295 geolo SF Telekopio: 960-297 289 Denna publikation säljes av

GEOLOGISKA FORSKNINGSCENTRALEN (GFC) Publikationsförsäljning 02150 Esbo 2020 90-46931 Telex: 123 185 geolo sf Telefax: 90-462 205

GFC, Mellersta Finlands distriktsbyrå Biblioteket PB 1237 70101 Kuopio 22 971-205 111 Telefax: 971-205 215

GFC, Norra Finlands distriktsbyrå Biblioteket PB 77 96101 Rovaniemi © 960-297 219 Telex: 37 295 geolo SF Telefax: 960-297 289 This publication can be obtained from

GEOLOGICAL SURVEY OF FINLAND (GSF) Publication sales SF-02150 Espoo, Finland 90-46931 Telex: 123 185 geolo sf Telefax: 90-462 205

GSF, Regional office of Mid-Finland Library P.O. Box 1237 SF-70101 Kuopio, Finland 20 971-205 111 Telefax: 971-205 215

GSF, Regional office of Northern Finland Library P.O. Box 77 SF-96101 Rovaniemi, Finland 960-297 219 Telex: 37 295 geolo SF Telefax: 960-297 289

> ISBN 951-690-343-6 ISSN 0367-522X